2014-2015
ISSN 1836-6538 (Print) | 1836-6546 (Online)

Boronia Pre-release Women’s Prison

Front cover image: Boronia Pre-release Women’s Prison greenhouse

Material in this report is subject to copyright and should not be reproduced without the consent of the Department.
The information in this report is presented online in an easy reference and interactive PDF.
Contact:
Department of Corrective Services
Level 8, 141 St Georges Terrace
PERTH WA 6000
Telephone: (08) 9264 1711 Fax: (08) 9485 0045
Email: onlineservices@correctiveservices.wa.gov.au
© Department of Corrective Services 2015

Contents
Introduction2-4

Offender Profile

Statement of Compliance

3

Facilities18

Responsible Minister

4

Our Locations

Enabling Legislation

4

Offender Profile

Commissioner’s Summary 

Corporate Snapshot

5-6
7-16

17-23
19
20-23

Report on Operations 24-60
Security24-29

Government Goals

7

Safety of our people

Our Vision, Mission, Values

8

Organisational Structure

9

Safety of our offenders
37-45
Rehabilitation46-60

Our Strategic Direction

11-13

Governance14
Our People

15

Finances16

30-36

Disclosures and Legal
Compliance61-153
Financial Statements
Key Performance Indicators

61-120
121-136

Other137-153

2014-2015

back

next

1

Introduction

Photo: Boronia Choir

2014-2015

back

next

contents

2

Statement of Compliance
To the Hon. Joe M Francis MLA
Minister for Corrective Services:
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and presentation to the
Parliament of Western Australia, the Annual Report for the Department of Corrective Services (the Department) for
the financial year ending 30 June 2015.
This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

James McMahon | Commissioner
Department of Corrective Services

2014-2015
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Responsible
Minister
The Hon. Joe M Francis MLA,
Minister for Corrective Services

Enabling Legislation
Legislation administered by the Department of Corrective Services:
Court Security and Custodial Services Act 1999
Dangerous Sexual Offenders Act 2006
(s 18, 19A, 19B, 19C, 21 and 32 and Pt 2 Divs 3 and 5 and Pt 5)
Prisoners (International Transfer) Act 2000
Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983
Prisons Act 1981
Sentence Administration Act 2003 (Pt 1, Pt 2 Div 2, Pt 5 Div 1-3, Pt 6, 7 and 8 and Pt 10
[other than section 114 and 115 A])
Sentence Administration (Interstate Transfer of Community Based Sentences) Act 2009
Sentencing Act 1995 (Pt 3 Div 3 and 5, Pt 3A, 9, 10, 11 and 12, and Pt 18 Div 2, 3 and 4)
Young Offenders Act 1994

back

next

contents

4

Commissioner’s Summary
Everything we do is directed towards community safety.
Everyone at the Department has a role to play to achieve this objective through
ensuring that our offenders are secure, our staff and detainees are safe, and through a
focus on rehabilitation.
The annual report measures changes over a single financial year, and this year we
have improved on achieving our key objectives. More important is the long term trend the real test will be the results over the next five to ten years.
People in our care are secure
Escapes by adults have dropped by 40% at a time when the average prisoner
population has increased by 7.4% from 5,030 to 5,402. Importantly, there were no
escapes by maximum security prisoners and only one escape by a medium security
prisoner.
This warrants an examination of classifications and a thorough assessment of risk. It
is the responsibility of all staff from top down to make sure we pay attention to detail.

James McMahon | Commissioner

Our staff and detainees are safer
Serious assaults on staff resulting in hospitalisation or ongoing medical treatment fell by 44.4% from nine to five. Assaults
not requiring hospitalisation or ongoing medical treatment increased by 10.3%.
Serious assaults by prisoners on prisoners doubled from 15 to 32. This must change. We must learn from this, despite the
fact that assaults not requiring hospitalisation dropped by 27%.
Rehabilitation improves community safety
Rehabilitation can be measured by the rate of return to corrections. It is a key factor in improving community safety. I am
pleased to note that there has been a steady decline in rates of return over the last four years, and the last financial year
saw a 7.2% decrease in return from offenders leaving prison and returning to prison and a 5.3% decrease from prison back
to Corrective Services.

2014-2015
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Commissioner’s Summary

In the 2013-2014, we began the reformation of the Department to align structure with strategy. This year we continued to put in place the building
blocks towards meeting our vision of the Department as a leading world class corrective services organisation that:
is a place where people want to work
continuously learns and innovates
delivers results, value and excellence in all of its activities.
These building blocks included:
the release of our Strategic Plan 2015-2018. This plan is more than ‘Mission’, ‘Values, and ‘Vision’ – it is a blueprint of concrete projects
and deliverables. The 20 deliverables are made up of over 70 projects. These projects are assigned to the leaders of this Department. The
intention is to create a culture of clarity of role and accountability that will lead to action, achievement and clear evaluation of success or failure
the Coordination Centre was established to efficiently coordinate the movement of prisoners and remandees. It provides a 24-hour centralised
incident response, coordination and monitoring services
the Youth Justice Board delivered the first of its grants aimed at diverting young people from the justice system. Over $2 million was allocated
for projects targeting young people who are Aboriginal. This includes grants for the Wirrpanda Foundation and Horsepower Training. The
programs funded will provide job training and employment opportunities for young people
the Operational Services Division was set up to provide world’s best practice policy and procedures to guide the practical management of
people in our care.
These are only a few of the many projects and changes that this Department, the fourth largest in government is undertaking. We are changing
how we are structured and how we work. We are changing culture and governance. These changes can be challenging, but all are being made
through the prism of our primary objective – a safer community for all Western Australians.

James McMahon | Commissioner
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Corporate Snapshot

2014-2015

back

next

contents

7

Corporate Snapshot

Government Goals

The Department is funded to deliver services and achieve desired outcomes which ultimately contribute to meeting high-level government goals.
The primary government goal for the Department is results based service delivery: Greater focus on achieving results in key service areas for
the benefit of all Western Australians. The Department’s Key Performance Indicators are integral to tracking performance in areas that have
been identified as critical to achieving this goal. The Key Performance Indicators are monitored through quarterly and annual reporting, and the
results are used to drive improvements. A more detailed description of the results, and accompanying graphs and tables can be found at the
corresponding page reference for each indicator.

Government goal
Results-based
service delivery:
Greater focus on
achieving results in
key service areas
for the benefit of all
Western Australians.

Desired Department
Outcomes
A safe, secure and
decent corrective
services which
contributes to
community safety and
reduces offenders’
involvement in the
justice system.

Services
1. Adult Corrective Services

2. Youth Justice Services

Adults who offend are managed in
custody and in the community to
fulfil the orders of the courts and
releasing authorities. Adults who offend
participate in remedial, educational,
employment and rehabilitative
programs that address their offending
behaviour.

Young people who offend are managed
in detention and in the community
to fulfil the orders of the courts and
through diversion from court programs.
Young people who offend participate in
remedial, educational and rehabilitative
programs that address their offending
behaviour.
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Corporate Snapshot

Our Vision
Where we are going The Department is a leading world class corrective services
organisation that:
is a place where people want to work
continuously learns and innovates
delivers results, value and excellence in all of its activities
Our Mission
What we do every day Our mission is to ensure a safer community by focusing on:
security of detainees and prisoners in correctional facilities and
offenders on community based orders and parole
safety of our people
safety of offenders, detainees and prisoners
rehabilitation
Our Values
How we live it every day -

Our values are critical to achieving our vision and mission.
Our values are:
Integrity
Being ethical and inspiring trust by saying what we mean, matching
our behaviours to our words and taking responsibility for our actions.
Respect
Treating all with dignity, fairness and courtesy.
Accountability
Being willing, able to explain and justify the appropriateness
of actions and decisions.
Excellence
Always doing what we say we will and striving for quality in
everything we do.
Learning
Undertaking continuous improvement and developing our
own skills and knowledge.

Our values are critical to achieving our vision and mission.
Our values are:
Integrity 			
Respect		
Accountability
Excellence 			
Learning

2014-2015
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Corporate Snapshot

Organisational Structure June 2015
Commissioner

Office of the Commissioner

Office of Reform

Office of the Commissioner
• Secretarial Support
• Schedule Coordination

Governance and Ministerial Coordination
Performance, Assurance and Risk
Strategic Communications
Change and Capability
Strategic Planning and Policy

Adult Justice Services
Adult Custodial Operations
• Population and Resource Management
• Custodial Services
(Minimum Security & Women)
• Custodial Services
(Maximum & Medium Security)
• Prison Industries
Rehabilitation and Reintegration
• Integrated Individualised Offender
Management
- IIOM Planning
- IIOM Operating Standards and
Procedures
- IIOM Schedule Coordination
• Psychological Assessment, Counselling
and Support
• Education and Vocational Training
• Offender Programs
• Sentence Management
Adult Community Corrections
• Community Services (South)
• Community Services (North)
• Dangerous Sexual Offenders Branch
• Adult Court Services
• Victim-offender Mediation

Youth Justice Services
Banksia Hill Detention Centre
Community, Diversion and Rehabilitation
Services
• Youth Justice Community Centres
• Youth Services
- Bail and Court Services
- Psychological Services
- Diversion and Rehabilitation
Planning

Operational Services
Operating Standards and Procedures
• Operating Standards
• Operating Procedures
• Monitoring and Compliance
• ACCESS
Security and Response Services
• Coordination Centre
- Offender Movement Coordination
- Response Coordination
• Special Operations Group
• Drug Detection
Intelligence Services
• Intelligence Collection
• Intelligence Analysis
• Intelligence Distribution and Application
Investigation Services
• Misconduct Assessment
• Investigations
• Professional Conduct and Review
Learning and Professional Development
Health Services

Corporate Support
Financial Management
• Financial Governance
• Financial Accounting
• Management Accounting
Knowledge, Information and Technology
• Legal and Legislative Services
• Business Intelligence and Reporting
• Business Solutions and Governance
• Technology Systems
Infrastructure Services
• Infrastructure Planning and Standards
• Infrastructure Maintenance
• Infrastructure Development
Procurement and Contracted Services
• Commercial Contracts, Procurement
and Administration
• Community Services Contracts,
Procurement and Administration
• Private Prison Contracts Management
• Prisoner Transport and Custodial
Services Contracts Management
Human Resources
• Recruitment
• Employee Relations
• HR Planning
• Safety and Health
• Payroll and Transactional HR
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Corporate Snapshot

Our Strategic Direction

Strategic Plan
In February 2015, the Department launched its Strategic Plan 2015 - 2018: Creating Value Through Performance.
The Strategic Plan provides the Department with the direction to improve its efficiency and effectiveness in offender
management and become a world class corrections organisation.
The Department is driven by its mission to ensure a safer community by focusing on security, safety and rehabilitation.
The Department carries out this mission in partnership with the community, other government agencies and the private and the
not-for-profit sectors.

Strategic Platform

Deliverables

1

Change Program: Implement a new Departmental structure that is aligned with the Department’s
vision, mission and values.

Right Structure, Right
People - Trained Right
To implement an integrated
organisational structure and
human resources system
that focuses on recruitment,
succession planning,
retention, training and
leadership development at
all levels.

2014-2015

Socrates Program: De-couple the Department’s corporate support services from the Department
of the Attorney General and establish a stand-alone corporate support function that focuses on
the Department’s needs.
Human Resources: Develop workforce planning and management strategies that ensure the
Department has the right number of work-ready staff now and in the future.
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Strategic Platform and Deliverables continued

Corporate Snapshot

Strategic Platform

Deliverables

2

Banksia Hill Detention Centre (BHDC) Transformation: Implement an operational model at
Banksia Hill Detention Centre that enables young people to lead law abiding lives.

Operational Focus
Review and integrate the
Department’s operations,
policies, processes and
practices.at all levels.

Youth Justice: Ensure programs are tailored to meet the unique needs of young offenders.
Operational Optimisation: Revise, implement and evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of
Adult Justice Service operations to ensure operational excellence in all policy, processes and
procedures.
Legislative Reform: Administer, review and develop legislation to ensure the effective
administration of corrective services.
Offender Management: Research, review and develop an integrated and individualised
approach to the case management of offenders, focusing on safety, rehabilitation, reintegration
and reduction in re-offending.
Integrity of Departmental Data: Ensure that the Department is able to deliver accurate and
timely data, information, records and analysis to support Departmental decision making.

3
4

Risk Management
Effectively identify, forecast,
evaluate and mitigate risk.
Embed a lessons learnt culture.

Leadership and Culture
Embed a culture of leading at
all levels, team work at all levels
and lessons learnt at all levels..

Enhancing Performance and Mitigating Risk: Develop and implement a framework that
enables the Department to manage risks, especially those that threaten the achievement of its
vision, mission and key deliverables.
Security and Safety Framework: Develop and implement an intelligence function across
Departmental divisions and the justice portfolios, and renew focus on the safety and security of
staff and offenders in alignment with the management of Departmental risks.
Leadership at all Levels: Develop stronger leadership within the Department and a culture of
collaboration and learning embedded in work practices.
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Corporate Snapshot

Strategic Platform and Deliverables continued
Strategic Platform

Deliverables

5

Developing Stronger Partnerships: Develop stronger partnerships with government
agencies, the Judiciary, the for-purpose sector, the community services sector, victims
of crime and communities.

Engagement
Effectively engage with relevant internal
and external stakeholders.

Engaging with Aboriginal People: Work with Aboriginal organisations and individuals
to develop a state-wide network of services through cooperation.

6
7
8

Service Delivery
Develop partnerships and
arrangements to deliver services,
contracting, performance and value.

Infrastructure
Develop and maintain models that
optimise infrastructure and future
growth to enhance our mission.

Technology
Use technology and integrated systems
to deliver our four key tasks - Security
of detainees, prisoners and offenders;
Safety of our people; Safety of
detainees, prisoners and offenders and
Rehabilitation.

2014-2015

Performance Programs: Research, develop and implement new program and service
delivery models that meet needs and provide rehabilitation results.
Program Evaluation: Investigate existing service delivery methods and develop
options for future delivery which focus on need and value for money.

Strategic Asset Plan: Develop a strategic asset framework that encompasses current
needs and projects, and informs future asset requirements.
Meeting Projected Growth: Deliver a capital works program that meets projected
growth for detainee, prisoner and offender numbers.
Optimising Investment in Technology: Ensure technology supports monitoring of
offenders, reduction of prisoner movements, improvement of security and delivery of
programs in an effective and accountable manner.
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Corporate Snapshot

Governance
The Department has adopted a unified approach to governance
through a matrix environment with clearly articulated strategic, tactical
and operational functions for each deliverable and project within the
Strategic Plan.
The Department has established high level committees to support the
Commissioner in decision-making and governance arrangements.
Some committees are mandatory (such as those for occupational
health and safety or audit) while others are for advisory purposes.
At the strategic level, the Department is led by the Corporate Executive
(CorpEx), which consists of the Commissioner and the five divisional
heads. CorpEx is advised by a number of Governance Committees
which include the following:
Executive Budget Committee
Performance, Assurance, Risk and Audit Committee
Corporate Executive Change Committee.

Committees have been categorised under seven main themes:
Adult Offender Management
Youth Justice Services
Leadership, People and Training
Reform, Alignment and Communication
Knowledge and Systems
Security and Safety
Women.
All committees established by the Department adhere to best practice
protocols, as defined by the Australian Public Service Commission1.
This includes the establishment of clear terms of reference, appropriate
membership, secretariat support, sound recordkeeping and review. All
Departmental committees are reviewed annually to ensure strategic
focus, alignment and integration with the Department’s vision, mission
and strategic plan.

Committees have been established to implement specific initiatives
or complex work that cuts across divisions, and to oversee policy
areas and projects identified as key risks to the Department. These
committees are time limited to the work being undertaken.

1 Australian Public Service Commission 2007, ‘Part Two - Building Blocks for Effective Governance,’
‘Building Better Governance’ Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
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Corporate Snapshot

Our People
Department workforce
To achieve its vision as a leading world class corrective services
organisation, the Department is implementing an integrated
organisational structure and human resources system that focusses
on recruitment, succession planning, retention, training and leadership
development at all levels.
The Department’s Strategic Plan 2015-2018, commits to developing
workforce planning and management strategies to ensure the
Department has the right number of work ready staff now and in the
future.
The Department has a diverse workforce including:
public service employees; covered by the Public Service Award
and include Public Service (General) staff, specified callings,
community correction officers, youth justice officers and salaries
and allowances tribunal staff
adult custodial prison officers; covered by the Prison Officers Award
and include all prison officer ranks, vocational support officers and
work camp officers
youth custodial officers; employed under the Youth Custodial
Officers Agreements and are predominantly employed at Banksia
Hill Detention Centre
medical practitioners; doctors employed under the Medical Officers
Award
teachers; includes teachers, casual TAFE lecturers and casual
tutors covered by the Public Service Award and teachers for
young people covered by the Teachers (Public Sector Primary and
Secondary Education) Award

2014-2015

nurses; registered nursing staff covered by the Registered Nurses
Industrial Agreement and enrolled nursing staff covered by the
Enrolled Nurses, Assistants in Nursing, Aboriginal and Ethnic
Health Workers Industrial Agreement.
Aboriginal employment
During 2014-2015 an average of 4.2% of the Department’s permanent
staff identified as being Aboriginal.
As at 30 June 2015, the Department employed 188 permanent
Aboriginal staff, 98 females and 90 males.
The Department is strengthening Aboriginal employment rates and
has set a target ratio of 7.25% of permanent staff. To achieve this
target the Department is focussing on recruiting Aboriginal staff for
front-line roles including prison officers, youth custodial officers,
community corrections and youth justice officers, and prevention and
diversion officers.
Targeted Separation Scheme
The Targeted Separation Scheme (also known as Voluntary Separation
Program) was a state government initiative, funded by the Department
of Treasury and administered by the Public Sector Commission.
The Department’s assessment was based on the Department’s
priorities, ongoing business needs and skill requirements. Expressions
of interest were sought from Department employees with priority given
to staff in non-operational positions.
From a total of 105 voluntary severance offers made, 94 employees
accepted a voluntary severance and left the Department on 26 March
2015.
back
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Corporate Snapshot

Finances
Table 1: Financial snapshot
The Department’s primary source of funds to meet the cost of services
is via government service appropriation. In 2014–2015, $831m was
provided from this source towards total activity costs that amounted to
$912m.The net cost of services in 2014–2015 was $881m (2013–2014
$831m). The cost increase of $50m was related to employee benefit
expenses being $29m higher, primarily due to the impacts of demand
growth, overtime, targeted separation payments and pay increases
across a range of awards. Additionally supplies and service costs
were $17.5m higher. The Department’s privately run prison Acacia
contributed to this increase as a result of its expansion from a capacity
of 1,007 to 1,395 beds.
Capital expenditure for 2014–2015 was $33.4m. This related to a
number of items, including but not limited to the expansion of Acacia
Prison facilities and the projected costs associated with building the
new Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison. The completion of Acacia’s
prison expansion resulted in 387 additional prisoner beds that
were completed in November 2014. For further information on the
Department’s Capital Investment Program please refer to page 26.

2014-2015
$ Millions
831
19
22
1
31
904

2013-2014
$ Millions
781
20
22
1
30
854

Activity Costs
Adult Criminal Justice Services
Juvenile Criminal Justice Services
Total (millions $)

806
106
912

756
106
862

Expenditure
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
Depreciation
Accommodation
Total (millions $)

477
285
95
10
33
12
912

448
267
97
9
30
11
862

Income
Government Appropriation
Other Government Revenues
Royalties for Regions Funding
Commonwealth Grants and Contributions
Other revenue
Total (millions $)
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Offender Profile

2014-2015
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Offender Profile

Facilities
Facilities across the State
The Department manages more than 5,000 adults at 14 public prisons,
two private prisons and five work camps, and over 4,000 adults at 26
community corrections branches across Western Australia.
The Department has legislative responsibility for the security of all adult
prisoners and young persons in detention regardless of whether they
are being managed by the Department directly or by private service
providers under contract to the Department.
The Department also manages over 150 young people in detention and
over 1,000 young people at 26 Youth Justice Service branches across
the State.
The Department’s head office is located in the City of Perth, with its
facilities located as far north as Wyndham and as far south as Albany.
Our prisons are extremely diverse and include minimum, medium and
maximum security facilities for men and women.
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Offender Profile

Our Locations

Adult Community Corrections
Prisons

Work Camps

Youth Detention Centres

Wyndham

Youth Justice Services
Head Office Buildings

Note: maps are for illustrative purposes only.

Broome

Mirrabooka
Mount Lawley

Warwick Bandyup
Wooroloo

Mirrabooka
Mount Lawley
Acacia

Midland

Belmont

Perth

Maddington

Midland

Karratha

Acacia

Karratha

South Hedland

Carnarvon

Meekatharra

Meekatharra
Geraldton

Rockingham

Geraldton

Rockingham
Karnet

Greenough

Greenough

Mandurah

Adult Community Corrections
Prisons
Work Camps

Adult Community Corrections

Youth Detention Centres

Prisons

Youth Justice Services

Work Camps

Head Office Buildings

Head Office Buildings

Kalgoorlie

Northam

Karnet

Youth Justice Services

Warburton

Warburton

Casuarina

Youth Detention Centres

South Hedland

Carnarvon

Banksia Hill

Mandurah

Halls Creek

Newman

Newman

Boronia
Maddington

Banksia Hill

Casuarina

West Kimberley

Roebourne

Roebourne

Hakea

Yangebup

Hakea

Yangebup

Wooroloo

Belmont

Perth

Fremantle
Boronia
Wandoo

Fremantle
Wandoo

Kununurra

Halls Creek
Fitzroy Crossing
Fitzroy Crossing

Joondalup

Warwick Bandyup

Kununurra

West Kimberley
Broome

Joondalup

Wyndham

Northam
Perth
Bunbury
Busselton
Pardelup
Walpole

2014-2015

Perth

Wheatbelt
Bunbury
Busselton

Kalgoorlie
Wheatbelt

Eastern Goldfields

Narrogin Pardelup
Katanning
Walpole
Esperance

Narrogin
Katanning
Esperance
Albany

Albany
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Kununu

West Kimberley

Offender Profile
Adults in Prison
On an average day during 2014-2015, the Department managed 5,402 adult prisoners. This was an increase of
7.4% compared to 2013-2014.
Table 2: Adult prisoners by location, gender, Aboriginality and security rating
Daily Average Population

2013-2014

2014-2015

% Change

Overall

5,030.0

5,401.6

7.4%

Prison Location1
Metropolitan
Regional

3,589.9
1,440.1

3,987.9
1,413.8

11.1%
-1.8%

Gender2
Male
Female

4,569.4
460.5

4,885.7
515.9

6.9%
12.0%

Aboriginality
Aboriginal
Non-Aboriginal

2,018.3
3,011.7

2,124.0
3,277.6

5.2%
8.8%

Personal Security Rating3
Maximum
Medium
Minimum

505.9
3,044.2
1,479.9

1,097.5
2,862.0
1,442.2

116.9%
-6.0%
-2.5%

1

May not total to overall Daily Average Population due to rounding figures to one decimal place.

2

May not total to overall Daily Average Population due to rounding figures to one decimal place.

3

May not total to overall Daily Average Population due to rounding figures to one decimal place.

Note: The average daily population is the total of the daily population at the end of each day in the period, divided by the
number of days in the period.
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Offender Profile

Adults in community corrections
On an average day during 2014-2015, the Department managed 4,146 adult offenders in the community. This was a
decrease of 4.6% compared to 2013-2014.
Table 3: Adults in community corrections by gender, Aboriginality and order type
Daily Average Population

2013-2014

2014-2015

% Change

Distinct Offenders

4,343.4

4,145.6

-4.6%

Gender1
Male
Female

3,338.1
1,005.3

3,186.6
959.0

-4.5%
-4.6%

Aboriginality2
Aboriginal
Non-Aboriginal

1,450.6
2,884.4

1,352.4
2,788.4

-6.8%
-3.3%

Order Category3
Bail Orders
Court Orders
Early Release Orders
Work and Development Orders

340.6
3,484.3
558.8
84.4

324.0
3,265.5
563.5
106.4

-4.9%
-6.3%
0.8%
26.1%

1

May not total to overall Daily Average Distinct Offenders due to a small number of people where gender is not recorded.

2

May not total to Daily Average Distinct Offenders due to a small number of people where Aboriginality is not recorded.

3

May not total to Daily Average Distinct Offenders as an individual could be counted in multiple order categories.

Note: The average daily population is the total of the daily population at the end of each day in the period, divided by the
number of days in the period.

2014-2015
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Offender Profile

Young people in detention
On an average day during 2014-2015, the Department managed 156 young people in detention.
This was a increase of 0.4% compared to 2013-2014.
Table 4: Young people in detention by legal status, gender, Aboriginality and security rating
Daily Average Population

2013-2014

2014-2015

% Change

155.5

156.2

0.4%

83.7
71.8

93.9
62.3

12.1%
-13.2%

Gender
Male
Female

144.3
11.2

150.7
5.5

4.4%
-50.9%

Aboriginality
Aboriginal
Non-Aboriginal

120.9
34.6

113.8
42.4

-5.9%
22.5%

Personal Security Rating
Maximum
Medium
Minimum

127.1
28.1
0.2

127.7
27.5
0.9

0.5%
-2.1%
n/a*

Overall
Legal Status
Sentenced
Unsentenced

*Numbers too small to be significant
Note: The average daily population is the sum of the daily population at the end of each day in the
period, divided by the number of days in the period.
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Offender Profile

Young people in community
On an average day during 2014-2015, the Department managed 1,036 young people in the community. This was a
decrease of 7.8% compared to 2013-2014.
Table 5: Young people in community by gender, Aboriginality and service category
Daily Average Population

2013-2014

2014-2015

% Change

1,123.3

1,035.8

-7.8%

Gender1
Male
Female

891.9
229.7

828.6
206.0

-7.1%
-10.3%

Aboriginality2
Aboriginal
Non-Aboriginal

682.0
436.1

625.1
398.2

-8.3%
-8.7%

Order/Service Category3
Court Orders (incl. Bail)
Supervised Release Orders
Juvenile Justice Teams

665.7
67.7
410.8

584.3
51.6
411.8

-12.2%
-23.8%
0.2%

Distinct Offenders

1

May not total to overall Daily Average Distinct Young People due to a small number of people where gender is not recorded.

2

May not total to Daily Average Distinct Young People due to a small number of people where Aboriginality is not recorded.

3

May not total to Daily Average Distinct Young People as an individual could be counted in multiple categories.

Note: The average daily population is the total of the daily population at the end of each day in the period, divided by the number
of days in the period.

2014-2015
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Report on Operations
Photo: Bandyup Prison officer

2014-2015
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Security
Security of detainees and prisoners in correctional facilities and offenders on community based orders and parole
Maintaining the security of detainees and prisoners in correctional facilities, and offenders on community based orders and parole protects
the community. The Department implements a range of security systems, drug detection programs, intelligence services, risk management
procedures and control strategies to maintain a secure environment, leading to a safer community.
Key achievements for 2014-2015
Fewer escapes from custody and detention
An escape occurs when a prisoner or detainee breaches physical
security; flees from an authorised escort; or flees from or leaves any
facility, hospital or location where they are lawfully meant to be. Escape
numbers include escapes from custody where the prisoner or detainee
was managed by Department staff directly or by contracted service
providers.
There have been four escapes recorded for young people over the ten
year period to 30 June 2015. Escapes by adults decreased by 74%
during the same period, and have reduced by 40% from 2013-2014. In

comparison the adult daily average prisoner population has increased
from 5,030 in 2013-2014 to 5,402 in 2014-2015 which represents an
increase of 7.38%.
The decrease in escape numbers is due to the implementation of
a risk management approach, the establishment of a Security and
Response Directorate which consolidates security and emergency
management across Department operations, a review of the State-wide
security framework, the introduction of a centralised incident response,
coordination and monitoring service, and an ongoing capital works
program.

Table 6: Number of escapes - ten year trend
Number of Escapes

Adult by Security Status
Maximum
Medium
Minimum
Total Adult

2005-2006

2006-2007

2007-2008

2008-2009

2009-2010

2010-2011

2011-2012

2012-2013

2013-2014

2014-2015

0
1
34
35

3
3
21
27

8
2
18
28

1
0
11
12

0
0
3
3

0
0
10
10

1
0
6
7

1
2
7
10

4
5
6
15

0
1
8
9

0

0

1

0

0

1

0

2

0

0

Young People

Note: For more information on Escapes see Key Performance Indicators, pages 125 and 132.

2014-2015
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Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued
Security enhancements

Capital Investment Program

The new Security and Response Directorate within the Operational
Services Division provides consolidated services for security and
emergency management across the Department’s operations: adult
custodial, adult community corrections, youth custodial and youth
justice services in the community. New security initiatives include:

Major works undertaken during 2014-2015 include:
Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison
The $232 million New Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison is being
delivered as a Public Private Partnership.
The prison will be operated by the Department, with the private
sector providing facilities management and estate services.
The Department is preparing for the transition to the New Eastern
Goldfields Regional Prison in late 2015 and will test operational
readiness.
Expansion of Acacia Prison
The Acacia Expansion Project completed in May 2015 increases
the capacity of Acacia Prison by 387 beds to a total of 1395 beds
for medium security prisoners.
Women’s Remand Facility
Work commenced on the new Women’s Remand and Reintegration
Facility which aims to alleviate the pressure arising from the
projected growth in the number of female prisoners.
The focus of the facility will be on improving outcomes for
women on remand and ensuring the best value for money for the
community.

State-wide Security Framework
A review of the Department’s Statewide Security Framework in 20132014 found its scope was limited to adult custodial facilities and
lacked a strategic focus. A new security framework is being developed
to include youth and community facilities, articulate legislative
requirements and national security standards.
Coordination Centre
The Coordination Centre provides a 24-hour centralised incident
response, coordination and monitoring service. The primary functions of
the centre are the coordination of all offender movements and providing
a single point of contact for all incident response and emergency
management.
Special Operations Group
The functions of the former Emergency Support Group’s role have
been broadened to include specialist security and emergency supports
to community-based facilities as well as custodial facilities.
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Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued
Capital Investment Program continued
$22 million has been allocated to convert units 11 and 12 at Hakea
Prison to a standalone facility. These units will be segregated from the
rest of the prison and a new separation fence, gatehouse and additional
buildings will be constructed on the site.
Infrastructure maintenance includes:
continuation of the Cell Upgrade and Ligature Minimisation Program
across the prison estate
continuation of the Perimeter Obsolescence program including the
replacement of the Greenough Regional Prison perimeter security
system
upgrading the Banksia Hill Detention Centre perimeter security
system.

On 16 June 2015 the Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services
tabled its report on Banksia Hill and noted that the facility has made
several improvements.
Women’s Estate Reference Committee
The Department has established a Women’s Estate Reference
Committee. Its role is to provide initiatives in the women’s estate
broadly and over the longer term with representatives from the legal
profession, interest groups and Aboriginal organisations.

Banksia Hill Detention Centre - Transformation
Banksia Hill Detention Centre (Banksia Hill) is Western Australia’s only
youth detention facility, accommodating male and female young people
who are on arrest, awaiting a court outcome or sentenced to detention.
In 2014-2015, continued progress was made on the transformation
of Banksia Hill. An emergency management plan was completed and
enhancements were made to intelligence gathering and analysis,
and security. The workforce has been increased by 25% to ensure a
continued focus on safety and security of staff and young people.

2014-2015
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Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued
Court Security and Custodial Services contract

Services to victims

The Court Security and Custodial Services contract was awarded to
Serco Australia Pty Ltd in 2011 with an expiry date of 30 June 2016.
Under this contract, Serco provides court security and court custody
services at major metropolitan and regional courts throughout Western
Australia. This includes transporting people in custody between police
lockups, courts, court custody centres, prisons and remand centres,
and other movements such as hospital transfers.

The Department provides services to victims through the VictimOffender Mediation Unit and the Victim Notification Register.

On 16 June 2015, the Minister for Corrective Services announced
in Parliament that the Department would not be exercising its option
to extend the contract a further five years from its expiry date. The
Department will identify future service delivery options and advise the
government on its preferred service delivery model based on best value
for money while ensuring the safety of prisoners or detainees and the
wider community.

The Victim-Offender Mediation Unit provides mediation services to
adults and young people who have offended and the respective victims
of their offences. In 2014-2015, the Unit received 3,876 referrals
for offender mediation, which included approximately 490 reparative
mediation referrals and 3,386 protective condition process referrals.
A total of 4,194 victims were associated with these referrals.
The Victim Notification Register provides eligible victims (or their
agent) with legislatively prescribed information regarding an offender’s
management through the criminal justice system while under the
jurisdiction of the Department.
In 2014-2015, there were a total of 408 new Victim Notification Register
registrations. This was an 104% increase from 200 registrations in
2013-2014.
The Department is reviewing its model of service delivery to victims of
crime with a focus on creating greater efficiency, minimising duplication
of work and providing timely responses to victims.
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Joint Agency Operations
The Western Australia Police detectives and the Department’s
Investigation Services Directorate collaborated on Taskforce Ulysses
in 2013-2014, which targeted serious and organised crime and
associated corruption or misconduct, involving offenders or staff. The
Taskforce achieved significant results including criminal convictions and
administrative sanctions.
Following the success of the Taskforce, a dedicated joint-agency Prison
Team was established to provide a more coordinated approach to
disrupting organised criminal activity and enhancing community safety.
Corrective Services officers from the Investigation Services, Intelligence
and Security and Response Directorates, including the Drug Detection
Unit, have joined with WA Police Organised Crime Squad Prison Team on
a number of operations in the past year.
Drug Detection Unit Joint operations involving the Prison Team,
Investigation Services Directorate and the Drug Detection Unit
consistently stop the flow of drugs and other contraband into prisons. The
Drug Detection Unit works across the Department’s many sites statewide, to effectively disrupt and deny the passage of drugs into facilities.
Drug dogs are used routinely to detect drugs in prisons and also as part
of specific targeted operations.

Photo: Drug Detection Unit dog, Diego

During 2014-2015, the metropolitan Drug Detection Unit searched
103,559 prison visitors resulting in 44 drug substance seizures; 8,636
prisoners were searched resulting in 5 drug substance seizures and 5,185
area/ environ searches were conducted resulting in 45 drug substance
seizures. A large number of dog indications resulted in drug implements/
paraphernalia being seized.

2014-2015
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Photo: Trainee officers take oath of engagement in Kalgoorlie.
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Safety of our People
Ensuring the safety of our people is about managing risk and adopting good practices that contribute to a safer workplace. The Department
is committed to ensuring that occupational safety, health and injury management guidelines are met, through the provision of appropriate
facilities, training and support for staff.
Key achievements 2014-2015
Reducing serious assaults on staff
In 2014-2015, there were five incidents where staff were seriously injured by adult prisoners. This represents a reduction of four from the previous
year or a 50% reduction in the rate of serious assaults. The total rate of assaults and serious assaults against staff decreased by 0.04 or 1.9%
in 2014-2015. Assaults are classified as serious where the victim is subjected to physical violence that results in injuries requiring overnight
hospitalisation or ongoing medical treatment. Serious assaults include all sexual assaults.
Table 7: Serious assault / assault by adult prisoners on staff - rate per 100 prisoners
Adults - Assault Category

2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015

Annual Change %

Serious Assault

0.11

0.06

0.18

0.18

0.09

-50.0%

Assault

1.49

0.90

1.25

1.93

1.98

2.6%

Total (Assault + Serious Assault)

1.60

0.96

1.43

2.11

2.07

-1.9%

Note: For more information on serious assault, see Key Performance Indicators on page 129. The Key Performance Indicator
for serious assault is not comparable to this table as it refers to serious assaults by prisoners on both prisoners and staff.
Table 8: Serious assault / assault by young people in detention on staff rate per 10,000 custody nights
Young People - Assault Category

2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015

Annual Change %

Serious Assault

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.4

-20.0%

Assault

0.6

4.1

0.5

3.2

1.8

-43.8%

Total (Assault + Serious Assault)

0.9

4.3

0.6

3.7

2.1

-43.2%

Note: Annual Change % in table 7 and table 8 is the proportionate change in assault rates from 2013-2014 to 2014-2015.
Currently the Department does not report on assault by young people in detention in its Key Performance Indicators.

2014-2015
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Safety of our people

Key achievements 2014-2015 continued
Learning and Organisational Development

Workers’ Compensation Project

During 2014-2015, 298 prison officers, community corrections officers,
youth justice officers and youth custodial officers were awarded
a Certificate III in Correctional Practice. 459 employees achieved
statements of attainment for specialised training to improve or maintain
essential skills and knowledge.

Workplace safety is a priority for the Department and the prevention
and management of workplace injuries has been a key area of focus
during the year. The Department completed a review into its workers’
compensation situation and is focussed on reducing staff injuries.

The Academy delivered professional development programs to 1,052
employees throughout the State. The programs covered a diverse
range of skills and knowledge including organisational induction,
management and leadership, finance skills, personal safety and
security, workplace skills and working with employees. Officers and
employees attended 763 training hours on a range of courses including
Suicide Prevention - Gatekeeper, Advanced Business Writing Skills,
Risk Management, Selection Panel, Dealing with Aggressive People
(Clients), Writing Policy Documents, Computer Skills, Senior First Aid
and Aerosol Subject Restraint.
Trainers based throughout Western Australia provided training to 3,253
participants which included prison-based and regional Departmental
employees. The regional training covered a diverse range of courses
including Drug and Alcohol Awareness, Working with Diversity, Use of
Force, Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (including re-qualification) and
Working with Female Offenders.

The Department currently has 437 open workers’ compensation claims
and receives an average of 48 new claims each month. 573 claims
were received over the past year compared to 555 in the previous year.
Safety Review of Adult Community Corrections
During 2014-2015, a review was conducted on the security and safety
of all Adult Community Corrections centres. As a result of the review,
Adult Community Corrections has implemented quarterly emergency
management exercises for all staff. Scheduled and unscheduled
exercises of potential incidents with offender are conducted. Potential
incidents include bomb threats, disruptive offenders and verbal threats.
Adult Community Corrections has also held a series of lessons learnt
reviews on events and incidents to ensure that staff and offender safety
are prioritised.
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Key achievements 2014-2015 continued
Custodial Legislation (Officers Discipline) Amendment Act 2014
The Custodial Legislation (Officers Discipline) Amendment Act
2014 received Royal Assent on 3 December 2014 and is awaiting
proclamation. This Act amended the Prisons Act 1981 and the Young
Offenders Act 1994 to align the discipline of prison officers and youth
custodial officers with disciplinary provisions in the Public Sector
Management Act 1994. The PSMA discipline process has a focus on
managing and improving performance rather than punishment.
The Act enables the removal of officers due to a loss of confidence
from the Commissioner in their suitability to remain in their positions.
An officer can be removed if the Commissioner forms the view that a
lack of integrity or honesty poses a threat to the safety of colleagues or
the safety and security of offenders.
The Act is scheduled for implementation on 24 August 2015.
Subsidiary legislation and policies and procedures are being developed
to support the operation of the Act. The Department is consulting with
the WA Prison Officers Union and the Community and the Public Sector
Union / Community Services Association on the implementation of the
Act.
Workplace modernisation
A contemporary workforce is responsive, innovative, collaborative and
productive. Its foundation is a safe, modern workplace that:

2014-2015

values and empowers staff
provides the means and motivation for staff to excel in their work
and advance their career
is a continuous learning environment.
The Department’s workplace modernisation is delivering projects
through the Strategic Plan that will modernise work practices and
workplaces.
Projects associated with the Change Program, Socrates, Human
Resources and Legislative Reform will improve occupational health and
safety, modernise work practices and enable staff to work productively
and collaboratively to manage offenders in the community and
custody. Projects associated with operational optimisation, offender
management, leadership at all levels, integrity of departmental data
and optimising investment in technology will provide the tools and
training for prompt decisions based on empirical evidence and statutory
requirements.
Achievements in 2014-2015 include:
the finalisation of the Department’s high-level structure through
the Change Program and completion of the functional reviews
of 17 directorates. The new structure is designed to promote
collaboration, innovation, responsiveness and operational
productivity. It enables adaptability to changing trends and
circumstances. It provides the foundation to work together to give
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Safety of our people

Key achievements 2014-2015 continued
Workplace modernisation continued
consolidated and coherent advice on the Department’s areas of
responsibility. The Department’s new directorates are driven by:
• ensuring legislative compliance
• maintaining security
• enhancing the safety of staff, offenders and wider community
• focusing on rehabilitation to reduce re-offending.
as part of the Department’s workplace modernisation, work
has progressed on disbanding Shared Corporate Services with
the Department of the Attorney General to create a stand-alone
corporate support function that focuses on needs and requirements
of Corrections staff.
management assurance services were decommissioned from the
shared arrangement with Department of the Attorney General on 1
July 2014.
a stand-alone corporate library service was implemented in May
2015.
Corporate Services yet to be decommissioned include Information
and Communications Technology services, transactional finance
services, transactional Human Resources including payroll,
establishments, recruitment and resource management services.
The Department has completed planning activities and is now
moving into the implementation phase of the program.

data integrity: New quarterly and monthly statistical reports on
adults and young people in the criminal justice system were made
available on the Department’s website this year. The reports are
an example of overall improvements to the Department’s statistical
collection and reporting, in line with a focus on data integrity as
outlined in the Strategic Plan. Timely, relevant and reliable statistical
data underpins evidence-based decision making. Improved data
will help set benchmarks for evaluation within new program delivery
frameworks being developed in adult and youth justice services.
improvements were made to the Total Offender Management
System to support Integrated and Individualised Offender
Management.
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Frontline recruitment
Almost 200 Prison and Youth Custodial Officers graduated from the Corrective
Services Academy in 2014 marking the successful conclusion to a year-long
recruitment strategy.
In December 2014 alone, 44 new Prison Officers and 20 Youth Custodial
Officers graduated from the Academy.
All officers complete a three-month training program at the Academy before
commencing on-the-job training at various facilities around the State.
The Academy training includes theory and practical modules such as custodial
procedures, security, cultural awareness, first aid, physical training and selfdefence.
The graduates came from employment fields as varied as education, the armed
forces, emergency services, forensics, construction, health and hospitality.

Photo: Graduating Youth Custodial Officers, July 2014

In a first for Kalgoorlie, a Prison Officer training course was run locally. The
14 graduates, more than half of whom were locals, are set to form part of the
workforce at the new 350 bed Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison.
Two hundred and eighty seven applications were received through an external
recruitment process for the Special Operations Group. Twenty four applicants
were deemed successful and added to the appointment pool.

2014-2015
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Initiatives in Occupational Safety and Health
In 2014-2015, WorkSafe undertook a Proactive Project on safety and health in
Corrective Services Prisons. The project was designed to assist the Department
in meeting its Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) obligations, and focused on
industries, asbestos management and falls from heights.
WorkSafe visited a total of 11 prisons in both metropolitan and regional areas,
and throughout the project the hazards that were identified were published and
shared with other workplaces to learn from, and improve the management of
OSH.
In July 2014, the Department launched a new online OSH Awareness course
for employees. The course is an induction to OSH in the Department and is
designed to support employees in working together to maintain a safe and
healthy working environment.
The course provides an overview of OSH Legislation, the Department’s OSH
Management System and details OSH roles and responsibilities for all staff
across the agency.
Photo: An offender is productively occupied in the Casuarina
workshop. Prison industries are required to follow strict OSH
procedures to ensure the safety of both staff and offenders
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Report on Operations
Photo: Secure unit at Fiona Stanley Hospital, opened March 2015.
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Safety of offenders
Ensuring the safety of offenders in the community and our facilities is essential to creating an environment conducive to rehabilitation. The
Department is committed to ensuring consistency in offender management practices, improving compliance with operating standards and
procedures, providing quality health care services and reducing drug related harm.
Key achievements for 2014-2015
Reducing assaults on prisoners
In 2014-2015 the total rate of assault and serious assault on prisoners decreased by 22.5% from the previous year. There was a corresponding
27.5% reduction in the assault rate. The number of serious assaults on prisoners increased from 15 in 2013-2014 to 32 in 2014-2015. Assaults
are classified as serious where the victim is subjected to physical violence that results in injuries requiring overnight hospitalisation or ongoing
medical treatment. Serious assaults include all sexual assaults.
Table 9: Serious assault / assault by adult prisoners on other prisoners - rate per 100 prisoners
Adults - Assault Category

2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015

Annual Change %

Serious Assault

0.32

0.33

0.36

0.30

0.59

96.7%

Assault

6.00

5.76

5.94

7.48

5.42

-27.5%

Total (Assault + Serious Assault)

6.32

6.09

6.30

7.77

6.02

-22.5%

Note: For more information on serious assault, see Key Performance Indicators on page 129. The Key Performance Indicator
for serious assault is not comparable to this table as it refers to serious assaults by prisoners on both prisoners and staff.
Table 10: Serious assault / assault by young people in detention on other young people in detention rate
per 10,000 custody nights
Young People - Assault Category

Serious Assault

2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015

Annual Change %

1.4

1.0

0.3

0.2

1.2

500.0%

Assault

51.9

55.0

27.3

24.1

10.2

-57.7%

Total (Assault + Serious Assault)

53.3

56.0

27.6

24.3

11.4

-53.1%

Note: Annual Change % in table 9 and table 10 is the proportionate change in assault rates from 2013-2014 to 2014-2015.
Currently the Department does not report on assault by young people in detention in its Key Performance Indicators.
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THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:

Key achievements for 2014-2015

x300

Fiona Stanley Secure Unit
OFOperations
WORK PERFORMED BY ADULT OFFENDERS Health Care Accreditation
ON COMMUNITY PROJECTS

On 16 March 2015, custodial operations commenced
at the Fiona Stanley Secure Unit which received 378
prisoners up to 30 June 2015. The Secure Unit is a
purpose built facility designed to accommodate both
inpatient and outpatient prisoners. In addition to the
Secure Unit, there are ten hardened rooms across five
floors on hospital wards and two hardened rooms in the
Emergency Department for use by the Department and
WA Police. Hardened rooms have additional security
features over and above a standard in-patient room.
Operating Standards and Procedures
A dedicated Operating Standards and Procedures
Directorate within the Operational Services Division
was established as part of the reform process. This
directorate develops and reviews operational policy
for community and custody, and youth community and
custody.
The Directorate when fully operational will also monitor
compliance with standards and procedures.

2014-2015

x50

The Department’s Health Services is accredited by
the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards until
1 March 2017. Health Services is working towards
to
accreditation by the end of 2015 in accordance with
the Australian General Practice Accreditation Limited,
which more closely reflects its primary health care
role. Accreditation status is awarded to providers that
demonstrate compliance with performance standards
based on a quality standard of care and formal codes
of practice of health professions, as well as providing
evidence of continuing performance improvement.

3,517

prisoners were managed
under ARMS statewide
during 2014-2015

At Risk Management System
In 2014-2015, 3,517 prisoners were managed under
the At Risk Management System which provides a
framework for suicide prevention.
Gatekeeper workshops provide staff and prisoner peer
support officers with training to identify and deal with
high risk behaviours. In 2014-2015, 23 Gatekeeper
workshops for staff and 14 workshops for prisoners were
delivered to a total of 366 staff and 182 prisoners.
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Safety of offenders

Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued
At Risk Management System continued

Esperance region.

The Support and Monitoring System provides a
standardised approach across all prisons to managing
prisoners identified as being at statistically higher risk of
self-harm or suicide and/or in need of additional support
within the prison environment.

The program will encourage young people to re-engage
with education by providing them with an incentive to
work an hour each day on the Go Kart Program with a
qualified mechanic and/or TAFE lecturer. The Go Kart
Program will provide participants an opportunity to gain
their Karting licence, learn how to assemble, service and
drive a Go Kart.

In 2014-2015, 442 prisoners were managed under the
Support and Monitoring System throughout the state.
Drug Strategy Review
The Department’s Offender Drug Strategy 2010-2014 is
under review to determine new ways to reduce offender
drug use and associated harms. The Department’s drug
strategy focuses on supply reduction, demand reduction
and harm reduction strategies.
Esperance Nyungar Aboriginal Corporation
In 2015, Esperance Youth Justice Services in
collaboration with Esperance Nyungar Aboriginal
Corporation were successful in receiving a $25,000 grant
through Crime Prevention Grants. The grant will enable
Youth Justice Services to work with Esperance Nyungar
Aboriginal Corporation to provide alternative education
pathways for disengaged young people residing in the

Emergency Management Framework
The Department’s Emergency Management Framework
has been developed to ensure incidents such as bomb
threats, bushfires, medical emergencies and the death
of an offender or staff member are resolved with the
minimum of risk of harm to the community, offenders and
staff.
The Framework requires all prison facilities, detention
centres, community correction centres and youth justice
service centres to have emergency management plans
that are consistent with the framework and take into
account local risks.
The Framework and all emergency management plans
are reviewed annually.
back
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of males
and

22%

of females
believe that their drug
use contributed to their
incarceration

(Health and Emotional
Wellbeing Survey of Western
Australian Reception
Prisoners 2013)
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Health Services
The Department provides health care to a standard
equal to the care provided by the public health system
of Western Australia. Health Centres are provided in
each of the Department’s 14 public adult prisons and
Banksia Hill Detention Centre. In 2014-2015, 10,943
WORK PERFORMED BY ADULT OFFENDERS
patients received health care in prison orOFdetention,
of
ON COMMUNITY
PROJECTS
whom 10,126 (92.5%) were adults.
The Health Services Directorate provides health
care based on four cornerstones of health namely;
Primary Care, Co-Morbidity (Mental Health and
Addictions), Chronic Disease and Communicable
Disease. Specialist medical care and referred tertiary
care is provided as required in conjunction with the
Department of Health.

THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:

x300

x50

Health Centres are
provided in each of the
Department’s

14

public adult prisons
and Banksia Hill
Detention Centre.

to

The Co-morbidity Service
recorded almost

THE NEW PRISON WILL INCREASE
ITS CAPACITY FROM:

116
350

29,800

Photo: Health care atTO
Hakea Prison

direct occasions of
service
in 2014-2015.

MINIMUM
THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:

x300
OF WORK PERFORMED BY ADULT OFFENDERS
ON COMMUNITY PROJECTS
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Health services provided
Table 11: Provision of health services for offenders in prison and detention

In the adult estate,
Casuarina, Hakea and
Bandyup provide

Number of patients receiving health care
Category
Adults
Young people
Total

2012-2013
9,089
968
10,057

2013-2014
9,374
857
10,231

24
HOUR

2014-2015
10,126
817
10,943

on-site medical coverage
and crisis care facilities.

Number of entry health assessments provided (receivals to prison and detention)
Category
Adults
Young people
Total

2012-2013
9,720
1,531
11,251

2013-2014
9,567
1,344
10,911

2014-2015*
8,034
1,404
9,438

2012-2013
125,913
12,145
138,058

2013-2014
136,826
13,388
150,214

2014-2015*
151,526
12,834
164,360

Completed appointments
Category
Adults
Young people
Total

Note: For 2013-2014, changes were made to the reporting methodology and data capture procedures
for patients receiving health care.
*For 2014-2015, annual health assessments have been removed from the number of entry health
assessments provided category and included in the completed appointments category.
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Deaths in Custody
Table 12: Number of deaths in custody by cause of death
2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015
Number of deaths by apparent unnatural causes

1

0

2

3

3

Number of deaths by apparent natural causes

4

7

8

4

1

All deaths in custody, including those due to apparent natural causes are subject to internal review and Coronial
Inquest. The Department responds to internal review and Coronial recommendations to mitigate or address
identified risks and issues.
The Coroner released the findings for seven inquests for 2014-2015, with no adverse findings made in relation to
the Department. Findings for one coronial inquest in 2014-2015 has yet to be released by the Coroner.
Note: Includes matters yet to be finalised by the Coroner.
A death by apparent unnatural causes is a death which the Coroner found was caused by homicide, suicide,
accidental cause or a drug overdose, or there is sufficient evidence available to corrective services to suggest that
the most likely cause of death was homicide, suicide, accidental cause or a drug overdose.
A death by apparent natural causes is a death which the Coroner found was caused by natural causes, or there
is sufficient evidence available to corrective services to suggest that the most likely cause of death was a natural
cause. The definitions are consistent with national reporting requirements.

2014-2015
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Focus on Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder
Telethon Kids’ Institute has commenced a project at Banksia Hill Detention
Centre to assess and identify the prevalence of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder
among young people sentenced to detention. The project will assist the throughcare planning process by developing case management plans for young people
and a workforce development strategy to assist the Department in training staff.
Researchers from the Telethon Kids’ Institute were awarded a grant from the
National Health and Medical Research Council to evaluate the feasibility and
effectiveness of two interventions to improve the identification and management
of young people with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder .

Photo: Banksia Hill detainees will play a role in the Fetal Alcohol
Spectrum Disorder research undertaken by Telethon Kids’ Institute
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Central Metropolitan Youth Forum
On 16 June 2015, approximately 80 people across the not-forprofit Government sectors attended a joint Youth Forum. Central
Metropolitan Youth Justice Services, Youth Court Services and
the Department of Child Protection and Family Support worked
collaboratively to increase awareness and communication of
programs and services provided for young people in the Perth and
Swan districts.
It is anticipated that the Forum will become an annual event.

Photo: Central Metropolitan Youth Forum

2014-2015
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Report on Operations
Photo: Community work project at Greenough.

2014-2015
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Rehabilitation
Rehabilitation begins from the time sentencing starts through to when prisoners and offenders successfully reintegrate into society.
Rehabilitation of offenders in custody and the community through the provision of counselling, education and training is a key component in
reducing re-offending and improving community safety.

Key achievements for 2014-2015
Reducing re-offending

In 2014-2015, the rate of adults returning to prison after being released from prison decreased proportionately by 7.2% from the previous year.
The rate of adults returning to Corrective Services in 2014-2015 was lower than rates recorded over the previous five years. During 2010-2011,
the rate of adults returning to prison or a community based sentence after being released from prison was 51.6% compared to 42.7% during
2014-2015.
Table 13: Adult rates of return from prison to prison and prison to Corrective Services
2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015

Adult Rates of Return

Annual Change %

Prison back to Prison

44.2%

36.1%

36.3%

39.0%

36.2%

-7.2%

Prison back to Corrective Services

51.6%

44.2%

43.2%

45.1%

42.7%

-5.3%

Note: Annual Change % is the proportionate change in the rate of return from 2013-2014 to 2014-2015.
The Department’s Key Performance Indicator for rate of return is a rate based on prisoners who completed at least one prison
program. See Key Performance Indicators on page 126.

2014-2015
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Rehabilitation

THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:

x300

x50

OF WORK PERFORMED BY ADULT OFFENDERS
ON COMMUNITY PROJECTS

to

Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued
Expansion of age range of the Wandoo Reintegration
Facility
Wandoo Reintegration Facility is a 77 bed prison located
in Murdoch which initially housed minimum security
males aged 18-24.
In January 2015, the Minister for Corrective Services
announced the extension of the upper age range for
Wandoo from 24 to 28 years of age. This provided the
potential for the Department to increase the utilisation
of Wandoo Reintegration Facility and addressed a key
recommendation arising from the Office of the Inspector
of Custodial Services’ Report.
The population at Wandoo Reintegration Facility steadily
increased from February 2015 to 30 June 2015 to at or
near operational capacity.
In the 2014-2015 year, the Inspector of Custodial
Services completed his inaugural report into the
operations of Wandoo finding many examples of positive
and innovative practices.

Youth Justice Innovation Fund
The creation of the Youth Justice Innovation Fund is
an initiative of the Youth Justice Board announced
by the Minister for Corrective Services in Parliament
on 13 August 2014. The Youth Justice Board had an
initial $2 million in 2014-2015 to provide seed capital
to innovative, community based programs in an effort
to address some of the multiple and complex factors
associated with high youth re-offending rates, particularly
for Aboriginal young people.
Grants awarded to 30 June 2015 are:
$320,000 to Wirrpanda Foundation to deliver
a 12-month pilot of the Moorditj Ngoorndiak
longitudinal mentoring program

Over the past 12 months,

98%

of prisoners released
from Wandoo have
been released into an
employment, education or
training opportunity.

Funds allocated to 30 June 2015 are:
$220,000 per annum to the Kimberley Aboriginal
Law and Culture Centre to deliver the Yiriman
Youth Diversion Program as a two year pilot, which
provides camel walking camps and a caring for
country work-readiness program based in the Fitzroy
Valley.
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Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued

Youth Justice Innovation Fund continued
$260,000 per annum for the Aboriginal Legal Service of WA to
deliver the Aboriginal Legal Service Youth Engagement Program as
a two year pilot, which provides support and mentoring to Aboriginal
young people appearing in the Perth Children’s Court
$225,000 to Horsepower Training to deliver the Station Jobs
Program as a one year pilot, which provides on-the-job training and
employment opportunities on cattle stations in the Pilbara.
Program Delivery Framework
A more collaborative approach to funding programs that deliver
services to young people was announced at a joint forum in June 2015.
The Program Delivery Framework is designed to enable performance
monitoring of programs, so that offenders leave the justice system with
a sense of purpose.
Consultation with the Western Australian Council of Social Service,
Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia and other service providers
has commenced.
A framework for adult offenders is also being developed.

Program is run in a dedicated precinct (Urquhart Unit) with a specialist
management regime and intensive structured day focused on providing
age relevant education, vocational training, recreation, programmatic
interventions and life skills. Up to 32 young people can participate in the
Young Adult Development Program at any given time.
Youth Justice “Step Up Program”
During 2014-2015, Youth Psychological Services piloted the Step
Up program at Banksia Hill. Step Up is an evaluated and licenced
mindfulness-based, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy program targeted
at young men who are assessed as being aggressive and/or violent
offenders. The Program provides young men with pro-social skills
training, self-instruction training, mindfulness exercises and value setting.
The pilot program commenced in February 2015 for a 10 week period
and included eight young men from the Young Adult Development
Program. Four young men successfully completed the program and
reported that they had been provided with the skills to make pro-social
choices in the custodial environment and upon release. Due to its
success, a second program has been scheduled for July 2015.

Young Adult Development Program
The Young Adult Development Program is a structured program that
recognises the physical, emotional and developmental differences in
young people sentenced at Banksia Hill. The Young Adult Development

2014-2015
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Key achievements for 2014-2015 continued
Reconciliation Action Plan
The Department aims to provide culturally appropriate and collaborative
initiatives that reduce the overrepresentation of Aboriginal people in
our care. The Department drafted its first Reconciliation Action Plan in
2014-2015.
The draft Reconciliation Action Plan was developed by a Working
Group comprising Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal staff and chaired by
Commissioner James McMahon.
The Reconciliation Action Plan aims to enable the Department to
continually improve and account for the way it acknowledges, respects,
relates to, and partners with Aboriginal people, communities and
organisations. It will help the Department achieve the best outcomes for
Aboriginal people involved in the WA corrections system.
Implementation of the Reconciliation Action Plan is part of a cultural
change process directly linked to the Department’s Strategic Plan 20152018 Creating Value through Performance. Reconciliation is about
working with Aboriginal people to build mutual relationships, show
respect and create opportunities.

Photo: Reconciliation Action Plan Working Group
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Driving change at Bandyup
In a WA first, female prisoners have been
offered the opportunity to gain qualifications that
will prepare them for employment in the mining
industry.
Bandyup Women’s Prison, together with Stirling
Skills Training, ran Certificate II in Surface
Extraction and a Certificate II in Resources
and Infrastructure from the Central Institute of
Technology.
The course combines classroom-based theory
modules and hands-on training with heavy
machinery and power tools.
Upon their release from prison, the women
who complete the course will be qualified to be
considered for jobs such as construction trades
assistant, forklift operator or an operator at a
quarry or an open-cut mine. Through prisonbased training programs, prisoners can gain
skills, enhance their prospects for rehabilitation,
and boost their confidence to help with postrelease employment opportunities and a lawabiding lifestyle.

2014-2015

Photo: A female prisoner operating a heavy machinery as part of
the course training
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THE NEW PRISON WILL INCREASE
ITS CAPACITY FROM:

116
TO
350

MINIMUM

Prison Industries

Prison industries employs
Prison Industries provides employment, training and skills
THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:
development to prisoners with the intention of reducing
re-offending. On average 2000 prisoners are employed
throughout the year with a total value output from Prison
OF WORK PERFORMED BY ADULT OFFENDERS
prisoners on an average
Industries of about $100 million. The Department
remainsPROJECTS
ON COMMUNITY
day. The value of output
100% self-sufficient in the supply of milk, egg and
from these activities
is approximately $100
processing red meat mostly through its three prison farms
to
million.
at Karnet, Wooroloo and Pardelup.

x300 x50
2,000

Prison Industries produces fruits and vegetables to a value
of $1.1 million which is about 70% of total consumption
across the prison estate. Plans are in place to achieve
85% self-sufficiency in this produce by 2017.

Adult offenders performed

All prisons are 100% self-sufficient in the provision of
kitchen, laundry and cleaning operations as well as
mattress, pillow and linen requirements. Prison Industries
supplies 55% of prisoner clothing requirements.

103,498
hours

Community work
Community work is carried out by offenders who have
converted court-imposed fines to community work or have
been sentenced to complete community work orders.
Community work orders enable offenders to repay
Photo: Welding workshop at Albany

back

of unpaid community
work, saving taxpayers
approximately

$1,700,000
based on the minimum
hourly wage and a forty
hour working week
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Community work continued
their debt to society via contributions to not-for-profit
community organisations and projects. This also has
the benefit of assisting offenders gain new skills, which
contributes to breaking the cycle of re-offending.
From 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015, adult offenders
performed 103,498 hours of unpaid community work.
Work Camps
There are five work camps in operation across the state:
Wyndham (Kimberley), Roebourne (Pilbara), Warburton
(Goldfields), Dowerin (Wheatbelt) and Walpole (South
West).
Work camps offer an alternative to traditional
imprisonment for eligible, minimum-security prisoners
and are a prime example of working in partnership
with the community. They also offer an opportunity for
Aboriginal prisoners to be housed in country closer to
their communities.
During 2014-2015, work camp teams have undertaken
more than 41,000 hours of reparation work for
government and community groups with a total value of
approximately $730,000 (based on minimum wage). The
camps have contributed more than $350,000 into local
communities, and completed more than 13,000 hours of

2014-2015

prisoner training. Work has included:
assistance with the Ord Valley Muster including the
Kimberley Moon Experience
restoration and ongoing maintenance of the
Yaburara Heritage Trail in the Pilbara
ongoing maintenance of the Bastian Walk and
Denmark Rail Trail, the Mundi Biddi and Bibbulmun
Tracks in the State’s South West
brick paving and landscaping at the Merrittville
Retirement Village
re-stumping of the Goomalling Men’s Shed
assistance to the Fire and Emergency Services
Authority and the Department of Parks and Wildlife
in response to the bush fires in the State’s South
West
feral pig barrier fencing in the South West
ongoing restoration of the Lady Walpole Boat in
Walpole
general maintenance and landscaping at numerous
schools, hospitals, health centres, police stations,
cemeteries, retirement villages and other community
resources across the state
assistance with preparation of ANZAC, NAIDOC and
Australia Day ceremonies within the Camps local
communities.
back

In the last 12 months,
approximately

174

prisoners
and

29

officers

worked on numerous
community projects and
delivered more than

41,000
hours

of community work,
worth over $700,000.
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Prisoner education, training and employment
During 2014-2015 the Department provided Western Australia’s largest adult basic education program for Aboriginal
people. Of the 2,124 Aboriginal adult prisoners in the state’s custody, 1,129 (53%) were engaged in education.
Of all the state’s adult prisoners, 2,771 (51%) were enrolled in 46,507 accredited units of education and training
and achieved a 75% completion rate across adult basic, vocational and tertiary studies. Of these prisoners, 89 were
enrolled in tertiary education across 259 units of study.
204 prisoners completed trainee qualifications, with 32 (16%) of these completions earned by “at risk” young
offenders (18-24 years old). The completion rate for prisoners undertaking a traineeship was 67%, which is higher
than the national completion rate of 59%.
The Department provides a range of Career and Employment Services to support prisoners and ex-prisoners
into sustainable employment options. These include career and employment expos, career counselling, job
preparedness skills, employability skills and post placement support.
During 2014-2015, 3,840 prisoners were provided with employment and career guidance and 214 prisoners were
assisted into employment.
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Diggers Rest Horsemanship Clinic for Wyndham Work Camp prisoners
In April 2015, an intensive seven day training program which involved working
with horses and cattle was run at Diggers Rest Station in the East Kimberley.
This training provided an opportunity for 10 Aboriginal prisoners from the
Wyndham Work camp to be involved in learning both traditional and modern
methods of horsemanship and cattle work as part of their rehabilitative
program.
Some of the skills covered included:
Understanding the needs of a horse and how to work with the horse to get
the job done
Basic do’s and do not’s to keep horse and rider safe
Correct techniques when catching and riding a horse
Cattle work - manoeuvres required when working with cattle.
While the training was demanding, all participants actively engaged and
participated, showing high levels of respect and enthusiasm.
Hands on, interactive approaches are effective in teaching prisoners new
skills, supporting rehabilitation, increasing self-esteem and confidence, and
readying them for the workplace.
All participating prisoners completing the training have secured employment
on stations following their release from prison.
Station workers are highly sought after in the Kimberley region.

2014-2015

Photos: Wyndham Work Camp participants receive training in
the field (top) and learning correct techniques when riding a horse
(bottom)
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Stephanie Alexander Kitchen Garden Foundation
On 6 May 2015 Alexander Kitchen Garden Foundation
Ambassador Anna Gare visited Banksia Hill Detention Centre.
Ms Gare, as a Kitchen Garden Foundation Ambassador, is
passionate about skilling young people in nutrition, teaching them
where food comes from and how to use garden produce in their
meals.
The philosophy that underpins pleasurable food education is
that by setting good examples and engaging young people’s
curiosity, as well as their energy and their taste buds, positive and
memorable food experiences can be provided that will form the
basis of good lifelong eating habits.
Many young people in detention have limited knowledge about
healthy eating and nutrition, with many experiencing associated
health complaints such as obesity, diabetes and high blood
pressure.
Poor nutrition contributed to adversely affecting concentration
and learning and can affect a young person’s emotional
wellbeing.
During the morning young people planted a fruit tree and herb
plants in the gardens. The Centre currently runs the Stephanie
Alexander Kitchen Garden Program on site.
Photo: Stephanie Alexander Kitchen Garden Foundation Ambassador Anna Gare
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Loopline Railway Project
Since 2012, offenders in Kalgoorlie have undertaken community work at the
Loopline Railway Project in Boulder.
Under the supervision of a Community Work Officer (CWO) offenders have
contributed to a variety of projects including laying tram lines and assisting with
the establishment and maintenance of the Loopline Railway Museum.
Other work includes tending vegetable gardens, farming yabbies and restoring
trams. The offenders have built and plumbed an ablution block with its own
septic tank and restored a train in the theme of Thomas the Tank Engine for
children to play on.
The Department is one of many contributors to the project together with
community volunteers, local businesses and the ‘Work for the Dole’ project. The
CWO has advised that a number of offenders continue to attend the Loopline as
a volunteer once they have completed their community work requirements.
The CWO also supervises young people in the community one day a week
at the Loopline. They have restored an underground rail cart which is now
displayed near the Museum office. The Loopline have provide Youth Justice
Services with a certificate of appreciation for the work undertaken by these
young people and it is now display at the Goldfields Regional Youth Justice
Centre.
Photo: Offenders on community work orders in Kalgoorlie work on
the Loopline Railway Project

2014-2015
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Vocational Training and Employment Centre Fresh Start Program
Vocational Training and Employment Centre Fresh Start program was launched
on 21 November 2014. The program provides a pathway to employment in
the mining industry for Aboriginal prisoners from Roebourne Regional Prison
and offers guaranteed employment with Fortescue Metals Group for job ready
prisoners.
Participating prisoners completed the first 13 weeks of the 26 week program at
Roebourne Work Camp, the remaining 13 weeks completed on their practical
placement after release from prison. It is intended that eight prisoners from the
Roebourne Work Camp will complete the program in the first 12 months, with a
staggered intake of two prisoners every quarter. The most recent course to finish
concluded on 29 June 2015 with one of two ex-offenders graduating. The other is
expected to graduate shortly.
The program aligns with the Department’s aim of reducing Aboriginal recidivism
by providing rehabilitation and job readiness to break the cycle of offending.

Photo: The launch of Vocational Training and Employment Centre
Fresh Start Program
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Greening Greenough
A partnership between Greenough Regional Prison (Greenough), Durack
Institute of Technology and the Northern Agricultural Catchments Council,
aims to improve the local environment as well as enhance prisoner
education and employability, particularly among Aboriginal prisoners.
The multi-agency collaboration delivers accredited Conservation and
Land Management training to prisoners at Greenough. The work
carried out benefits the local community and environment as well as
strengthening rehabilitation and reintegration outcomes.
The 20 week course addresses some of the region’s key biodiversity
issues, with particular emphasis on the restoration of traditional lands.
The courses are open to minimum-security men and women who are
approved to work on selected community projects under section 95 of the
Prisons Act 1981.
Providing targeted courses for Aboriginal prisoners is part of the
Department’s commitment to reducing the disproportionate rate of
Aboriginal imprisonment.
More than 50 female and male prisoners have successfully completed
units with Durack Institute of Technology, with the majority completing all
of the units required to achieve a qualification.
Photo: Section 95 Project Instructor Cole Tanner is
part of the partnership project team at Greenough

2014-2015
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Moorditj Ngoorndiak
The Wirrpanda Foundation’s Moorditj Ngoorndiak longitudinal mentoring
program is the first to be funded by a grant from the Youth Justice Board’s
Youth Justice Innovation Fund.
It is an Aboriginal-designed and run program for long-term individual
mentoring of young people and support for their families. The program
starts in custody and continues post release. It targets sentenced
Aboriginal males aged 12 to 19 at Banksia Hill Detention Centre and
has capacity for 10 young people – 8 young people were engaged in the
program as at 26 June 2015.
Incentive payments will be made if young people completing the program
do not return to detention at a lower rate than the current recidivism rate.
No incentive is paid for young people who:
disengage with the program within six months of release without good
reason
are returned to detention within six months of release for breaching
their Supervised Release Order or
reoffend within six months of release resulting in a custodial sentence.
The mentors provide one-on-one culturally safe and appropriate mentoring
of the young people at Banksia three times a week in the lead up to
their release. At the same time the mentors work closely with the young
person’s family to help them support the young person’s reintegration into
the community on release.

Photo: Youth Justice Board members and Wirrpanda Foundation team at
the Department’s NAIDOC 2015 event
(Left to right) - Back row: Professor Clarissa Ball, Jarrad Oakley-Nicolls,
Craig Spencer, Paul Bide, Dale Kickett Front row: Troy Cook, Lisa
Cunningham, Walter McGuire, Alice Kearing, Charlotte Pittman, Isaiah
Wally-Stack
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Financial Statements
Independent Auditor’s opinion
Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIVE SERVICES
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Corrective Services.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash
Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by
Service, and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the
year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Commissioner determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commissioner, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
qualified audit opinion.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
Because of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph in my Report on
Controls below, I am unable to determine whether Plant and Equipment included within the
Property, Plant and Equipment balance is fairly presented. I am also unable to determine whether
the related Depreciation and Amortisation expense and Accumulated Deficit are fairly presented.

Page 1 of 4

In addition, because inventory has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position,
current assets are understated and Supplies and Services expenses and Accumulated Deficit
are overstated by an undetermined amount.
Qualified Opinion
In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion paragraph, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Department of Corrective Services at
30 June 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Corrective Services during the year
ended 30 June 2015.
Controls exercised by the Department of Corrective Services are those policies and procedures
established by the Commissioner to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions.
Commissioner’s Responsibility for Controls
The Commissioner is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
controls exercised by the Department of Corrective Services based on my audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls
to ensure that the Department complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation
of relevant controls.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
qualified audit opinion.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
Controls over the Department’s asset register were inadequate for ensuring that all plant and
equipment assets at the Acacia and Wandoo correctional facilities, and significant plant and
equipment assets at other facilities, were accurately recorded.
In addition, inventory records for miscellaneous stock at correctional facilities have not been
maintained and an inventory stocktake has not been performed.
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Independent Auditors opinion continued

Also, procurement controls were inadequate because many routine goods and services were not
purchased through the Government common use arrangements, and decisions to purchase from
other suppliers had not been justified. In several instances, ongoing services were procured
and/or extended without formal contracts being put in place.
Qualified Opinion
In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion paragraph, the controls exercised by the Department of Corrective Services are
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have
been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015.
Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Corrective Services for the
year ended 30 June 2015.
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.
Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Commissioner determines necessary to
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
and Assurance Standards.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical
requirements.
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the
Department of Corrective Services for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on the
Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the
Department’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance
indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may
have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users
of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks
arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited
financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this
website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
16 September 2015

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commissioner’s
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of
outcome achievement and service provision.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Corrective Services are
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Department’s performance and fairly
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
Cost of Services

2015
$000

2014
$000

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

477,082
284,764
33,390
66
12,163
9,553
23
95,406
912,447

447,834
267,252
30,147
86
11,058
8,681
107
96,922
862,087

14
15
16

130
501
30,932
31,563

98
665
29,991
30,754

31,563

30,754

880,884

831,333

Notes

Expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Finance Costs(a)
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Total income other than income from State Government
Net Cost of Services

Table continued overpage

2014-2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Income continued

Cost of Services
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government

Notes

Total Comprehensive (Loss)/Income for the Period

2014
$000

831,478
19,372
22,292
873,142

781,213
19,785
21,750
822,748

(7,742)

(8,585)

184,950
184,950

(13,620)
(13,620)

177,208

(22,205)

17

Deficit for the Period
Other Comprehensive Income
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Total other comprehensive income

2015
$000

29

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service.’
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a)

Finance costs include borrowing costs.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2015
Assets

Notes

2015
$000

2014
$000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets
Amounts receivable for services
Total Current Assets

30
18
19
20
21

15,540
15,231
5,713
1,258
9,216
46,958

7,292
11,356
5,735
238
11,826
25,091

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

21
22
24

107,689
1,602,806
6,819
1,717,314

83,985
1,411,438
7,703
1,514,482

1,764,272

1,539,573

45,647
198
98,147
143,992

26,150
252
93,742
120,144

Total Assets
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

26
27
28

Table continued overpage

2014-2015
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Statement of Financial Position continued

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Notes
27
28

Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated (deficit)
Total Equity

2015
$000

2014
$000

814
19,561
20,375

1,012
19,419
20,431

164,367

140,575

1,599,905

1,398,998

1,062,881
597,424
(60,400)
1,599,905

1,039,182
412,474
(52,658)
1,398,998

29

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flow
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

2015
$000
798,554
18,199
11,830
22,292
850,875

2014
$000
753,763
73,960
8,050
21,750
857,523

Utilised as follows:
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority

(466,184)
(358,224)
(66)
(12,163)
(38,158)
(443)

(439,820)
(365,994)
(86)
(11,058)
(40,739)
(366)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services
Commonwealth grants and contributions
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Net cash used in operating activities

31,633
62
448
38,067
(805,028)

32,754
64
355
41,575
(783,315)

Cash Flows from the State Government

Notes

Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Holding account drawdowns
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by the State Government

30(b)

Table continued overpage

2014-2015
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2015
$000

2014
$000

(33,425)

(100,347)

1
(33,424)

40
(100,307)

(300)
(300)

(373)
(373)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

12,123

(26,472)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the Period

18,648
30,771

45,120
18,648

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Notes

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Financial Lease Payments
Net cash used in financing activities

30(a)

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Notes

Balance at 1 July 2013

Contributed equity

$000
965,221

Balance at 30 June 2014

29

Balance at 1 July 2014

426,094

(44,073)

-

(13,620)
(13,620)

(8,585)
(8,585)

(8,585)
(13,620)
(22,205)

64,896
9,065
73,961

-

-

64,896
9,065
73,961

1,039,182

412,474

(52,658)

1,398,998

1,039,182

412,474

(52,658)

1,398,998

-

184,950
184,950

(7,742)
(7,742)

(7,742)
184,950
177,208

14,465
9,234
23,699

-

-

14,465
9,234
23,699

1,062,881

597,424

(60,400)

1,599,905

Deficit
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transaction with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2015

29

Total equity

$000
1,347,242

Deficit
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners
Total

Reserves Accumulated surplus/
(deficit) $000
$000

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2014-2015
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

2015 Service 1
Adult Offender
Services $000

2014 Service 1
Adult Offender
Services $000

2015 Service 2
Juvenile Offender
Services $000

2014 Service 2
Juvenile Offender
Services $000

2015 Total
$000

2014 Total
$000

405,561
261,263
33,390
66
9,188
9,479
22
87,135
806,104

379,308
244,356
28,830
86
8,217
8,506
106
86,256
755,665

71,521
23,501
2,975
74
1
8,271
106,343

68,526
22,896
1,317
2,841
175
1
10,666
106,422

477,082
284,764
33,390
66
12,163
9,553
23
95,406
912,447

447,834
267,252
30,147
86
11,058
8,681
107
96,922
862,087

130
492
28,730
29,352

98
621
27,322
28,041

-

-

10
2,202
2,212

44
2,669
2,713

130
501
30,932
31,563

98
665
29,991
30,754

Net Cost of Services

776,752

727,624

104,131

103,709

880,884

831,333

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government

784,952
16,179
7,292
808,423

646,798
16,524
6,701
670,023

46,526
3,193
15,000
64,719

134,415
3,261
15,049
152,725

831,478
19,372
22,292
873,142

781,213
19,785
21,750
822,748

31,672

(57,601)

(39,412)

49,016

(7,742)

(8,585)

Cost of Services
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Finance costs
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other revenues
Total income other than income from State Government

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Period

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets

2015 Service 1
Adult Offender
Services $000

2014 Service 1
Adult Offender
Services $000

2015 Service 2
Juvenile Offender
Services $000

2014 Service 2
Juvenile Offender
Services $000

42,343
1,640,300
1,682,643

21,011
1,431,324
1,452,335

4,615
77,014
81,629

125,321
20,253
145,574

102,919
20,276
123,195

1,537,069

1,329,140

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assets

2015 Total

2014 Total

4,080
83,158
87,238

46,958
1,717,314
1,764,272

25,091
1,514,482
1,539,573

18,671
122
18,793

17,225
155
17,380

143,992
20,375
164,367

120,144
20,431
140,575

62,836

69,858

1,599,905

1,398,998

$000

$000

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2014-2015
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations
and Income Estimates
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

2015 Estimate
$000

2015 Actual
$000

Variation
$000

2015 Actual
$000

2014 Actual
$000

Variation
$000

790,661

830,497

39,836

830,497

780,263

50,234

981

981

-

981

950

31

791,642

831,478

39,836

831,478

781,213

50,265

3,121

18,199

15,078

18,199

73,960

(55,761)

794,763

849,677

54,914

849,677

855,173

(5,496)

Service 1 - Adult Offender Services

769,679

806,105

36,426

806,105

755,665

50,440

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services

100,575

106,342

5,767

106,342

106,422

(80)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

870,254

912,447

42,192

912,447

862,087

50,359

Total income other than income from State Government
Net cost of services

29,570
899,824

(31,563)
880,884

(61,133)
(18,940)

(31,563)
880,884

(30,754)
831,333

(809)
49,550

Delivery of Services
Item 103 net amount appropriated to deliver services
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Capital
Capital appropriations
Grand Total
Details of Expenses by Service

Adjustments

(108,182)

(49,406)

58,776

(49,406)

(50,120)

715

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

791,642

831,478

39,836

831,478

781,213

50,265

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current assets
Adjustment for other funding sources
Capital appropriations

48,942
(45,821)
3,121

33,425
(15,226)
18,199

(15,517)
30,595
15,078

33,425
(15,226)
18,199

100,347
(26,387)
73,960

(66,922)
11,161
(78,083)

Grand Total

794,763

849,677

54,914

849,677

855,173

(5,496)

Note 40 ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2015 and between the actual results for 2014 and 2015.
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Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
1. Australian Accounting Standards
General

The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2015 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standard Board (AASB).
The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised
Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting
Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction
(TI) 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been
issued or amended (but not operative) have been early adopted by the
Department for the annual reporting period 30 June 2015.
2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general
purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by
the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and
wording.

2014-2015

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions
impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial
statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards,
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has a material or significant effect
upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land and
buildings which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial
statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods
presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting
policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process
of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key
assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Department and no other related
bodies.
Mission
The Department of Corrective Services’ mission is to reduce reoffending, assist victims, protect staff and the community and
encourage offenders towards law abiding lifestyles.
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary
appropriations.
The Department’s financial statements encompass all funds through
which it controls resources to carry on its functions.
Services
The Department provides the following services:
(i) Juvenile Offender Services
(ii) Adult Offender Services
(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to WhollyOwned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before
such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by
TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result
of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and
non-reciprocal.
(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business
activities as follows:
Sale of Goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other
assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership control
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the
period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated funds.
The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts
receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. Refer to
note 17 for further commentary on service appropriations.
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Net Appropriation Determination

(f) Borrowing costs

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed
receipts to be retained for services under the control of the Department.
In accordance with the determination specified in the 2014-2015
Budget Statements, the Department retained $31.540 million in 2015
($30.754 million in 2014) from the following:
proceeds from fees and charges
sale of goods
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions
other departmental revenue.

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains
control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash
is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners
are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the
services would be purchased if not donated.
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value
in the period in which the Department obtains control over the funds.
The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are
deposited into the Department’s bank account.
Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.
These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and
some revaluations of non-current assets.

2014-2015

(g) Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form
part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items
of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal
cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model
is used for the measurement of land, buildings and historical cost
for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are
carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land
and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions,
back
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the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued
amount.
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and
buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.
Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the
cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in
the asset, ie the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the
gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated
proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by
comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate
utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair
value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis
to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional
judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not
provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use
assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in
the asset revaluation surplus.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in
note 22 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and note 29 ‘Equity’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects
the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates
which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of
depreciable asset are:
Buildings 						50 years
Leasehold improvements			
10 years
Information technology systems		
5 years
Plant, equipment and vehicles			
4 - 15 years
Building and information technology projects are reported as Works In
Progress until commissioned.
Land is not depreciated.
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(h) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally
generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised.
The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful
lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed
directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired
at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of
acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.
Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred
unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when
they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing
costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed.
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably
measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable
future economic benefits.
(i) Impairment of assets

Computer software

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any
indication of impairment at each reporting period. Where there is an
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and
an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is
written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to
recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement
in other comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit
entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised
as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an
asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated
for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful lives) on
the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life
and zero residual value.
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software (a)				

3 to 5 years

Website costs			

3 to 5 years

(a)

Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

2014-2015
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cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption
or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of
impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where
fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost,
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount
is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
(j) Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised at the
commencement of the lease term as assets and liabilities equal in
amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of
the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles
under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the
Department is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the
reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate
implicit in the lease.

The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of
branch office buildings. Operating lease payments are expensed on a
straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of
benefits derived from the leased properties.
(k) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial
instrument:
Loans and receivables			
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following
classes:
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Finance lease liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair
value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value.
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction
cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and
subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is
not material.
(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise
cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
(m) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 26 Payables) represent the amount due
to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries
are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to
its fair value.

(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an
allowance for any uncollectible amounts (ie impairment). The
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and
any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department
will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
(o) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The
appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding
account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible
on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave
entitlements and asset replacement.
(p) Payables

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer to note 18 Restricted
cash and cash equivalents) consists of amounts paid annually into a
suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet
the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days
occur in that year instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on
this account.

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as
they are generally settled within 30 days.

The last pay day in 2014-2015 was 18 June. Therefore, an accrual for 8
days was necessary in this financial year.

All loans payable are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of
the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement is at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.

2014-2015

(q) Borrowings
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(r) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are
recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period.
Provisions - Employee Benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.
Annual Leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after
the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other
long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to
apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given
to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well
as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The
expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as
the Department does not have an unconditional right to the defer

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
Long Service Leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has
completed four years of service based on remuneration rates current as
at the end of the reporting period.
An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by PWC
Actuaries at 30 June 2015 determined that the liability measured using
the short-hand measurement technique above was not materially
different from the liability determined using the present value of
expected future payments. This calculation is consistent with the
Department’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current
liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end
of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service
leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the
Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
liability until the employee has completed the requisite of years of
service.
Provisions - other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are
not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and
expenses when the employment to which they relate, has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are
back
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not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-cost provision’. Refer
to note 27 ‘Provisions’.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other
fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements
in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector
employees vary according to commencement and implementation
dates.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit
pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme
closed to new members since 1995.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were
not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became
non‑contributory members of the West State Superannuation
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after
16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme
(GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or
GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred
superannuation fund provider. The Department makes contributions to
GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation
schemes extinguish the Department’s liability for superannuation
charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension
Scheme or GSS.

2014-2015

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes
of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent
contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB
extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation
liability.
The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or
the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and
the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who
transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.
All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made
by the Department to the GESB.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension
Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the
employer’s share.
(s) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises employer
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the
GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid
to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated
Account by the GESB.
(t) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the
Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised
as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can
back
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be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for
services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement
of Financial Position.
Assets or services received from other State Government agencies
are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(u) Biological Assets
Biological assets in the form of livestock are expensed to the income
statement at purchased cost.
(v) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.
3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting
policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make
judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The Department evaluates these judgements regularly.
Operating Lease Commitments
The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for
branch office accommodation. Some of these leases relate to buildings
of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Biological Assets
Biological assets have been expensed rather than capitalised as
assets due to the turnover time from when biological assets in the
form of livestock are purchased and then consumed. The Department
is of the view that the cost of implementing AASB 141 Agriculture for
amounts considered not material will exceed the benefit it provides.
The Department maintains and raises biological assets for internal
consumption and on rare occasions trade its stock in the open market.
The value of biological assets are monitored on an ongoing basis
to ensure these values do not become material. When these values
become material or be considered material, the Department will adopt
and apply the requirements of AASB 141.
4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on
historical experience and various other factors that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.
Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the
Department’s long service leave provision include expected future
salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected
future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may
impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting
Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
July 2014 that impacted on the Department.
Int 21
Levies
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability
to pay a government levy imposed should be recognised. There is no
financial impact for the Department at the reporting date.		
AASB 10
Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112
Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of
changes to accounting treatments.
The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Model
Department as it does not impact accounting for related bodies and the
Department has no interests in other entities.
AASB 11
Joint Arrangements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests
in Joint Ventures, introduces new principles for determining the type
of joint arrangement that exists, which are more aligned to the actual
rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

2014-2015

There is no financial impact for the Model Department as the new
standard continues to require the recognition of the Department’s share
of assets and share of liabilities for the unincorporated joint operation.
AASB 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure
requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 131
Interests in Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact.
AASB 127
Separate Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements removing the
consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining
accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate
financial statements. There is no financial impact.
AASB 128
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates,
introducing a number of clarifications for the accounting treatments of
changed ownership interest.
The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Model
Department as it does not hold investments in associates and joint
ventures.
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AASB 1031
Materiality
This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing
Australian guidance on materiality not available in IFRSs and refers to
guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is
no financial impact.
AASB 1055
Budgetary Reporting
This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general
purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the General
Government Sector. The Department will be required to disclose
additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances
between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial
impact.
AASB 2011-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5,
7,101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 and
1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 and 17]
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from
the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures. There is no financial impact for the Department.

AASB 2012-3
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria,
including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable
right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be
considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.
AASB 2013-3
Amendments to AASB 136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for NonFinancial Assets
This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no
financial impact.
AASB 2013-4
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Novation of
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]
This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in
circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated as a
hedging instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central
counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The Department
does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no
financial impact.
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ASB 2013-8
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for- Profit Entities - Control and Structured Entities
[AASB 10, 12 and 1049]
The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a not- for-profit entity controls another entity
when financial returns are not a key attribute of the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its own right, rather the impact
results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.
AASB 2013-9
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments
Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It has no financial impact.
AASB 2014-1
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and has no financial impact for the Department.
Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Department contributes to schemes that are either defined contribution plans, or deemed to
be defined contribution plans.
Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as it removes references to AASB 1031 Materiality from a number of Accounting Standards.
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards
not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Department has not applied early any of the following Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian
Accounting Standards from their application date.

2014-2015
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Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

AASB 9
Financial Instruments

1 Jan 2018

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of
changes to accounting treatments. The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being
amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 Jan 2017

This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report useful information to users of financial
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2010-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108,
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 and 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 and 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6
and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
1 Jan 2015

AASB 2013-9
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.
Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of AASB 9.
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Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

AASB 2014-1
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

1 Jan 2018

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not yet
been assessed by the Department to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2014-3
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 and
11]
The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint
Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jul 2016

AASB 2014-4
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
[AASB 116 and 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Model Department as depreciation and amortisation is not
determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.
AASB 2014-5
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations)
arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
AASB 2014-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations)
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.

2014-2015
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Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

AASB 2014-8
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) - Application of AASB 9 (December
2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 and 2010)]

1 Jan 2015

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities it applies to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2014-9
AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
[AASB 1, 127 and 128]

1 Jan 2016

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting
criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement
may be considered equivalent to net settlement. systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.		
The Department does not routinely hold financial assets and financial liabilities that it intends to settle on a net basis,
therefore there is no financial impact.
AASB 2014-10

1 Jan 2016

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture [AASB 10 and 128]
This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the requirements in AASB 10 and
those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

AASB 2015-1

1 Jan 2016

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014
Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 and 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The Department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2015-2

1 Jan 2016

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 and
1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically,
the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what
information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact.
AASB 2015-3

1 Jan 2015

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.
AASB 2015-6

1 July 2016

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for- profit Public Sector
Entities [AASB 10, 124 and 1049]
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation
guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. The Department has not yet
determined the application of the Standard, though there is no financial impact.

2014-2015
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6. Employee benefits expenses

Wages and salaries (a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)
Long service leave (c)
Annual leave (c)
Total

8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
2015
$000
385,649
38,674
13,190
39,569
477,082

2014
$000
366,092
35,390
11,969
34,383
447,834

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax
component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.
Includes 96 staff members who took voluntary redundancy payments totalling
$8.4m in 2015.
(b)
Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible
funds.
(c)
Includes a superannuation contribution component.
(a)

7. Supplies and services
2015
$00
6,126
10,206
43,150

2014
$000
6,053
10,138
40,420

2,990

3,096

Services and contracts (including
resources received free of charge)

222,292

207,545

Total

284,764

267,252

Communications
Electricity and water
Goods and supplies purchased
Plant, equipment and vehicle operating
lease expenses

Depreciation
Buildings
Plant, equipment and vehicles
Leased vehicles
Total depreciation
Amortisation
Leasehold improvements
IT systems
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation

2015
$000
25,117
1,334
226
26,677

2014
$000
23,806
1,380
369
25,555

2,511
4,202
6,713

2,357
2,235
4,592

33,390

30,147

2015
$000
66
66

20134
$000
86
86

2015
$000
12,163
12,163

2014
$000
11,058
11,058

9. Finance Costs

Finance lease charges
Total

10. Accommodation expenses

Building rental operating lease expenses
Total
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11. Grants and subsidies

13. Other expenses
2015
$000
9,546
7
9,553

Recurrent
Offenders gratuities
Other grants and subsidies
Total

2014
$000
8,678
3
8,681

12. Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from disposal of non-current
assets
Plant, equipment and vehicles

2015
$000
1

2014
$000
39

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and vehicles

(24)

(146)

Net Loss

(23)

(107)

2015
$000
13,978

2014
$000
19,204

Plant, equipment and vehicle repairs
and maintenance

3,262

3,466

Vehicle hire, fuel, registration and
management fees

2,069

2,253

36,783
2,298
1,004
25,320
2,429
329
3,099
1,564
3,065
206
95,406

30,812
1,405
1,394
27,267
3,171
352
2,669
1,547
3,172
170
40
96,922

2015
$000

2014
$000

130
130

98
98

Building repairs and maintenance

Insurance
Staff clothing and uniforms
Staff training
Staff accommodation
Travel and accommodation
Other staff related costs
Municipal rates and charges
Freight and couriers
General other expenses
Doubtful debts
Bad debts written-off
Total

14. User charges and fees

Miscellaneous fees and charges
Total

2014-2015
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17. Income from State Government

15. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Commonwealth recoup other
Total

2015
$000
501
501

2014
$000
665
665

16. Other revenue

Sale of produce and goods
Canteen sales
Recoup of salaries and workers compensation
Recoup of telephone costs
Other miscellaneous revenue
Total

2015
$000
2,687
11,584
11,242
3,863
1,556
30,932

2014
$000
2,758
10,158
10,294
3,501
3,280
29,991

Appropriation revenue received during the period:
Service appropriations (1)
Total

2015
$000

2014
$000

831,478
831,478

781,213
781,213

Services received free of charge from other State government
agencies during the period (2)
Department of Treasury and Finance (Building Management and Works)
Provision of integrated procurement services
320
311
Government accommodation
398
367
Project management
Maintenance work
2,064
2,239
Department of the Attorney General
Provision of bureau and legal services
14,871
15,255
Department of Land Information
Valuation services, land registration and information
6
7
Health Department of Western Australia
Provision of medical, health, dental services and
forensic services for post mortems
Total

1,713

1,606

19.372

19,785

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and
any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
(2)
Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal
consideration, the Department recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of
the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined
and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall
be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.
(1)
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Royalties for Regions Fund (3)

(3)

Regional Community Services Account

2015
$000
22,292

2014
$000
21,750

This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The
recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
Total

22,292

21,750

18. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (1)
Royalties for Regions (2)
Total
(1)

(2)

2015
$000
13,437
1,794
15,231

2014
$000
11,356
11,356

Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a
financial year that occurs every 11 years.
Recurrent funding received for Royalties for Regions for projects not yet spent at
year end.

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of
receivables:
Balance at start of period
Doubtful debts expense
Amounts written off during the period
Impairment losses reversed during the period
Balance at end of period

Receivables
Allowance for impairment of receivables
GST receivable
Accrued revenue
Total

2014-2015

2015
$000
2,268
(581)
3,565
461
5,713

2014
$000
2,278
(606)
3,479
584
5,735

2014
$000
(623)
(170)
130
57
(606)

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security
for receivables.

20. Other assets
2015
$000
1,258
1,258

Current
Prepayments
Total

2014
$000
238
238

21. Amounts receivable for services (Holding account)

19. Receivables
Current

2015
$000
(606)
25
(581)

2015
$000
9,216
107,689
116,905

Current
Non-current
Total

2015
$000
11,826
83,985
95,811

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it
can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
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22. Property, plant and equipment
2015
$000

2014
$000

100,956
100,956

99,861
99,861

1,466,704
1,466,704

1,178,921
1,178,921

Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Leasehold improvements total

27,289
(15,014)
12,275

27,189
(12,502)
14,687

Plant, equipment and vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Plant, equipment and vehicles total

21,340
(13,442)
7,898

20,517
(12,212)
8,305

Leased vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Leased vehicles total

2,852
(2,086)
766

2,852
(1,860)
992

Work in progress
Buildings
IT systems
Work in progress total

14,040
166
14,206

108,672
108,672

1,602,806

1,411,438

Land
At fair value (1)
Land total
Buildings
At fair value (1)
Buildings total

Total property, plant and equipment

(1)

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2014 by the Western Australian Land
Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during
the year ended 30 June 2015 and recognised at 30 June 2015. In undertaking
the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land:
$9,730,000 (2014: $9,260,000). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings
was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land
was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low
level utility (high restricted use land).
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting
period are set out below.
Carrying amount at start of period
Revaluation
Carrying amount at end of period

2015
$000
99,861
1,095
100,956

2014
$000
96,452
3,409
99,861

Buildings
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Transfer from work in progress
Contribution by owner
Revaluation
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of period

1,178,921
2,328
121,217
5,500
183,855
(25,117)
1,466,704

1,160,796
58,960
(17,029)
(23,806)
1,178,921

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at start of period
Transfer from work in progress
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of period

14,687
99
(2,511)
12,275

15,038
2,006
(2,357)
14,687

8,305
918

8,120
1,712

9

(147)

(1,334)
7,898

(1,380)
8,305

Land

Plant, equipment and vehicles
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of period

2014-2015

Carrying amount at start of period
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of period

2015
$000
992
(226)
766

2014
$000
1,370
(10)
(368)
992

Work in progress
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Transfers to non-current assets
Carrying amount at end of period

108,672
29,994
(124,460)
14,206

74,457
98,680
(64,465)
108,672

Total
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Transfer from work in progress
Contribution by owner
Revaluation
Disposals
Depreciation
Transfer to non-current assets (a)
Carrying amount at end of period

1,411,438
33,240
121,316
5,500
184,950
9
(29,188)
(124,460)
1,602,806

1,356,233
100,392
60,966
(13,620)
(157)
(27,911)
(64,465)
1,411,438

Leased Vehicles

(a)

Additions include transfers from work in progress

Information on fair value measurement is provided in Note 23
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23. Fair value measurements

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3)

Assets measured at fair value:
2015
Land (Note 22)
Buildings (Note 22)
Total
2014
Land (Note 22)
Buildings (Note 22)
Total

Level 1
$000
-

Level 2
$000
9,730
9,730

Level 3
$000
91,226
1,466,704
1,557,930

Fair value at end
of period $000
100,956
1,466,704
1,567,660

Level 1
$000
-

Level 2
$000
9,260
9,260

Level 3
$000
90,601
1,178,921
1,269,522

Fair value at end
of period $000
99,861
1,178,921
1,278,782

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.
Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and
Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the market
approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land
and buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to
determine price per square metre.

2015
Fair Value at start of period
Additions
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Disposals
Depreciation Expense
Fair Value at end of period
2014
Fair Value at start of period
Additions
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Disposals
Depreciation Expense
Fair Value at end of period

back

Land
$000
99,861
-

Buildings
$000
1,178,921
129,045

1,095

183,855

100,956

(25,117)
1,466,704

Land
$000
96,452
-

Buildings
$000
1,160,795
58,961

3,409

(17,029)

99,861

(23,806)
1,178,921
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Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period. There were no transfers in and out of a fair value level.
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future
economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost
of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or
obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market
observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.
Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The
relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and
represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of
comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land.
Buildings and Infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future
economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of
an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated

2014-2015
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Description and
fair value as at 30
June 2015

Fair Value Fair Value
2015 $000 2014 $000

Valuation
Technique(s)

Unobservable
inputs

Land (Perth Metro)

71,210

69,930

Selection of land
Current use with similar approx
utility

Land (Regional)

20,016

20,671

Selection of land
Current use with similar approx
utility

Buildings (WDV)

1,466,704

1,178,921

Depreciated
replacement
cost

Consumed
economic benefit/
obsolescence for
asset

Range of Unobservable
Inputs (Weighted avg)
2015

Range of Unobservable
Inputs (Weighted avg)
2014

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value

$4.80 - $261 per m2

Higher value of similar
land increases estimated
fair value

$4.8 - $256 per m2

$1.00 - $135 per m2

$1.00 - $168 per m2

($17 per m2)

($18 per m2)

($116 per m2)

1.00% - 70.58%
(3.73% avg p.a.)

($120 per m2)

1.12% - 10.27%
(2.54% avg p.a.)

Higher value of similar
land increases estimated
fair value
Greater consumption
economic benefit or
increased obsolescence
lowers fair value

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Note 22.

Basis of valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and
disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver
a specific community service and the Department’s enabling legislation.
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24. Intangible assets

26. Payables
2015
$000
42,088
(35,269)
6,819

Computer software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation
Total

2014
$000
38,771
(31,068)
7,703

There were no indications of impairment to intangible assets as at 30 June 2015.

Reconciliations
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Transfer from work in progress
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

2015
$000
7,703
173
3,144
(4,202)
6,819

2014
$000
6,440
3,498
(2,235)
7,703

2015
$000
13,551
14,655
17,441
45,647

Current
Trade and other creditors
Accrued salaries and wages
Accrued expenses
Total

2014
$000
3,647
11,364
11,139
26,150

The last pay day of the 2014-2015 financial year was on 18 June 2015.
A salary accrual of 8 working days was required to be taken up.
Accrued salaries and wages are settled within a few days of the
financial year end. The carrying amount is equivalent to the net fair
value.
27. Borrowings

Finance lease liabilities (secured) (a)
Total

2015
$000
198
198

2014
$000
252
252

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period
there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (secured) (a)
Total

814
814

1,012
1,012

All surplus assets at 30 June 2015 have either been classified as
assets held for sale or written-off.

Total finance lease liability

1,012

1,264

25. Impairment of Assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets at 30 June 2015.

2014-2015

Current

(a)

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to
the lessor in the event of default.
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28. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provisions
Annual leave (a)
Long service leave (b)
Superannuation
Total
Other provisions
Employment on-cost (c)
Total

(a)

2015
$000

2014
$000

35,207
48,464
7,949
91,620

35,278
44,912
7,297
87,487

2015
$000

2014
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

21,476

19,403

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

13,731

15,875

Total

35,207

35,278

b)

6,527
98,147

6,254
93,742

Non-current
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave (b)
Superannuation
Total

16,676
1,584
18,260

16,611
1,512
18,123

Other provisions
Employment on-cost (c)
Total

1,301
19,561

1,296
19,419

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as
follows:

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is
expected to occur as follows:
2015
$000

2014
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

18,239

44,912

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

46,901

16,611

Total

65,140

61,523

(c)

The settlement of annual and long services leave liabilities gives rise to the
payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The
provision is the present value of expected future payments.

Movements in other provision
Employment on-cost provisions

2015
$000

2014
$000

Carrying amount at start of period

7,550

6,933

278

617

7,828

7,550

Additional provisions recognised
Carrying amount at end of period
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29. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the
Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual
interest in the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation
reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation
of non-current assets.
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, as described in
accounting policy note 2 (g).

2015
$000
1,039,182

2014
$000
965,221

14,465

64,896

Other contributions by Owners
Contribution by Owner
Total contribution by owners

9,234
1,062,881

9,065
1,039,182

Balance at start of period
Result for the period
Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

1,062,881

1,039,182

Total equity at end of period

Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve
Land
Balance at start of period
Net revaluation increments
Balance at end of period

47,463
1,095
48,558

44,054
3,409
47,463

Buildings
Balance at start of period
Net revaluation increments
Balance at end of period

365,011
183,855
548,866

382,040
(17,029)
365,011

Total asset revaluation reserve

597,424

412,474

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Contributions by Owners
Capital appropriations

2014-2015

Accumulated deficit

back

2015
$000
(52,658)
(7,742)
(60,400)

2014
$000
(44,073)
(8,585)
(52,658)

1,599,905

1,398,998
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30. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of
Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of
Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents - operating account
Cash and cash equivalents permanent and temporary advances

2015
$000

2014
$000

15,342

7,093

198

199

15,540

7,292

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 18)

15,231

11,356

Total

30,771

18,648

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in
operating activities

Net cost of services

2015
$000

2014
$000

(880,884)

(831,333)

Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST
and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non current assets are
not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b)

This is the net GST paid/received ie. cash transactions.

31. Services provided free of charge
During the year the following resources were provided to other
agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal operations of
the Department:

Department of the Attorney General for contract
management and administrative costs in regard to
the Court Security and Custodial Services contract.

2015
$000

2014
$000

21,049

19,178

27

34

21,076

19,212

Department of Parks and Wildlife
Total

32. Commitments
(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense

33,390

30,147

Services received free of charge

19,372

19,785

23

107

107

2,066

Wages and salaries accrued

3,291

2,102

Provisions

4,547

2,957

15,126

(9,146)

(805,028)

(783,315)

Net loss on sale of assets

(a)

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are
payable as follows:

Decrease/(Increase) in assets:
Receivables (a)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Other current liabilities (a) (b)
Net cash used in operating activities

Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Total

2015
$000

2014
$000

17,137

644

3,912

-

21,049

644

Capital expenditure commitments allocated to the new women’s remand facility at
Hakea.
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(b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

The present value of finance leases payable is as follows:

The Department leases certain premises, motor vehicles and items of
plant and office equipment. The lease expenditure is expensed as it is
incurred. These are commitments in relation to leases contracted for at
the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities payable. At reporting
date the Department had the following obligations under operating
leases.

2015
$000

2014
$000

Within 1 year

14,960

252

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

80,392

936

Later than 5 years

144,725

76

Present value of finance lease liabilities

240,077

1,264

2015
$000

2014
$000

2015
$000

2014
$000

Within 1 year

15,457

14,524

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

39,613

39,215

6,652

12,290

Current (note 27 'Borrowings')

198

252

61,722

66,029

Non-current (note 27 'Borrowings')

814

1,012

1,012

1,264

Later than 5 years
Total

Present value of finance lease liabilities

(c) Finance lease commitments
Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are
payable as follows:
2015
$000

2014
$000

14,370

318

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

100,763

1,089

Later than 5 years

465,304

82

Minimum finance lease payments

580,437

1,489

(340,360)

(225)

240,077

1,264

Within 1 year

Less future finance charges
Present value of finance lease liabilities

2014-2015

Included in the financial statements as:

The Department has the option to purchase leased assets at their
agreed fair value on expiry of the lease. These leasing arrangements
do not have escalation clauses, other than in the event of payment
default. There are no restrictions imposed by these leasing
arrangements on other financing transactions. Certain finance leases
have a contingent rental obligation; however these are not material
when compared to the total lease payments made.
Commissioning of the newly constructed Eastern Goldfields Regional
Prison is expected in December 2015. The finance lease facility and
its lease payments will commence at the commissioning date of the
project. The department is only recognising the finance lease on its
vehicle fleet in the financial statements for the financial year ending 30
June 2015.
back
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(d) Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Total

2015
$000

2014
$000

137,523

128,416

28,425

167,688

165,948

296,104

Other expenditure commitments include the Court Security and
Custodial Services, Acacia Prison and the Wandoo Reintegration
Facility contracts.
33. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Department is required
to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department
of Environmental Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER
classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the
environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified
as contaminated - remediation required or possibly contaminated investigation required, the Department may have a liability in respect of
investigation or remediation expenses.
The department reported no known contaminated sites to the DER
during the year. The department has however received a letter from
the Department of Environmental Regulation on 29 June 2015 that the
Karnet tip has been classed as ‘contaminated’ and that remediation
would be required, however the amount of remediation works could not
be reliably measured at the reporting date.
Contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
In addition to the liabilities incorporated into the financial statements the
Department has the following contingent liabilities.
2015
$000

2014
$000

Claims against the Department of Corrective Services
from the general public and offenders.

373

100

Contaminated sites: Site Investigation and Remediation contaminated and suspected contaminated sites

581

25

The Department has no contingent assets.
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34. Remuneration of senior officers

35. Related and affiliated bodies

The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries,
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the
financial year, fall within the following bands:

The Department had no related or affiliated bodies during the financial
year.

$ 000,001 - $ 100,000
$ 100,001 - $ 150,000
$ 170,001 - $ 180,000
$ 180,001 - $ 190,000
$ 190,001 - $ 200,000
$ 200,001 - $ 210,000
$ 210,001 - $ 220,000
$ 220,001 - $ 230,000
$ 230,001 - $ 240,000
$ 250,001 - $ 260,000
$ 280,001 - $ 290,000
$ 290,001 - $ 300,000
$ 400,001 - $ 500,000
$ 500,001 - $ 600,000
$ 1,000,001 - $ 1,100,000

36. Remuneration of Auditor

2015

2014

5
1
2
1
1
2
1
1
1
1
2
-

4
4
1
1
2
2
1
1
1
1
1
-

$000

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the
audit for the current financial year is as follows:
2015

2014

89

85

Auditing the financial statements and key
performance indicators

37. Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-Offs
During the financial year, $231,000 (2014:$170,000) was written off the
Department’s asset register under the authority of:
2015

2014

231

170

The Minister

-

-

$000

Executive Council

-

-

3,034

3,192

Total

231

170

Annual leave and long service leave accruals

341

353

Other benefits

181

185

3,556

3,730

Base remuneration and superannuation

Total remuneration of senior officers

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred
by the Department in respect of senior officers.

The accountable authority

(b) Act of Grace payments
During the 2014-2015 financial year one act of grace payment was
made under the authority of:
2015

2014

-

3

The Minister

2014-2015
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38. Financial instruments
(a) Financial Objectives and Policies

Liquidity risk

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, finance
leases, loans and receivables, and payables. The Department has
limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Department is exposed to liquidity risk
through its trading in the normal course of business.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s
receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross
carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for
impairment, as shown in the table at Note 32(c).
Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is
minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for
services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the
Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The
Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with
the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At
the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations
of credit risk.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash
flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its
commitments.
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign
exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Department’s income
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department
does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to
other price risks.
The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because the
majority of cash and cash equivalents are restricted cash are noninterest bearing and it has no borrowings other than finance leases
(fixed interest rate).
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
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Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (i)
Amounts receivable for services

2015
$000
15,540
15,231
2,148
116,905

2014
$000
7,292
11,356
2,256
95,811

45,647
1,012

26,150
1,264

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Finance lease liabilities
(i)

The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO
(statutory receivable).

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit Risk
The following table discloses the Department’s maximum exposure to
credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period
is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The
table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but
not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on
information provided to senior management of the Department.
The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit
enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.

Aged analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired

Carrying
Amount

Not past
due and not
impaired

Up to 1
month

1-3 months

3 months to
1 year

1-5 years

More than
5 years

Impaired
financial
assets

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Cash and cash equivalent assets

15,540

15,540

-

-

-

-

-

-

Restricted cash and cash equivalent

15,231

15,231

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,148

1,148

94

174

159

573

-

581

116,905

116,905

-

-

-

-

-

-

149,824

148,824

94

174

159

573

-

581

2015

Receivables

(i) (ii)

Amounts receivable for services

Table continued overpage

2014-2015
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2014

Past due but not impaired

Carrying
Amount

Not past
due and not
impaired

Up to 1
month

1-3 months

3 months to
1 year

1-5 years

More than
5 years

Impaired
financial
assets

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

7,292

7,292

-

-

-

-

-

-

11,356

11,356

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,256

523

95

18

49

1,571

-

606

95,811

95,811

-

-

-

-

-

-

116,716

114,982

95

18

49

1,571

-

606

Cash and cash equivalent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalent
Receivables (i) (ii)
Amounts receivable for services

(i)

The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(ii)

The carrying amount is net of allowance for impairment of receivables.

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of
financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.
The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
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Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate (%)

2015

Maturity dates

Carrying
Amount

Fixed
Interest
rate

Variable
Interest
rate

NonInterest
Bearing

Nominal
Amount

Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1-5 years

More than
5 years

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalent assets

15,540

-

-

15,540

15,540

15,540

-

-

-

-

Restricted cash and cash equivalent

15,231

-

-

15,231

15,231

1,794

-

13,437

-

-

Receivables (i)

2,148

-

-

2,148

2,148

2,148

-

-

-

-

Amounts receivable for services

116,905

-

-

116,905

116,905

1,152

1,920

6,144

48,794

58,895

149,824

-

-

149,824

149,824

20,634

1,920

19,581

48,794

58,895

-

-

45,647

45,647

45,647

-

-

-

-

Financial liabilities
Payables

45,647

Finance Lease Liabilities

4.93%

1,012

1,012

-

-

1,012

16

32

150

814

-

46,659

1,012

-

45,647

46,659

45,663

32

150

814

-

7,292

-

-

7,292

7,292

7,292

-

-

-

-

11,356

-

-

11,356

11,356

-

-

-

11,356

-

2,256

-

-

2,256

2,256

2,256

-

-

-

-

95,811

-

-

95,811

95,811

1,479

1,480

8,871

51,272

32,709

116,716

-

-

116,716

116,716

11,027

1,480

8,871

62,628

32,709

26,150

-

-

26,150

26,150

26,150

-

-

-

-

2014
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalent
Receivables (i)
Amounts receivable for services
Financial liabilities
Payables
Finance Lease Liabilities
(i)

6.28%

1,264

1,264

-

-

1,264

24

63

165

1,012

-

27,415

1,264

-

26,150

27,415

26,174

63

165

1,012

-

The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

2014-2015
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The Department is not exposed to interest rate risks because cash and restricted cash and equivalents are non-interest bearing. The finance
lease liabilities have a fixed rate for the term of the lease.
Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at
amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
39. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting period.
40. Explanatory Statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial statements titled ‘Summary of
Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below: Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10%
or $5 million.
Variance Note

Original
Budget 2015

Actual 2015

Actual 2014

Variance Budget vs Actual
2015

Variance Actual results 2015
vs 2014

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Controlled Operations)
Employee benefits expenses

1, A

466,752

477,082

447,834

10,330

29,248

Supplies and services

2, B

256,310

284,764

267,252

28,454

17,512

Depreciation and amortisation expense

3, C

30,524

33,390

30,147

2,866

3,243

D

67

66

86

(1)

(20)

Accommodation expenses

E

11,906

12,163

11,058

257

1,105

Grants and subsidies

F

9,412

9,553

8,681

141

872

4, G

37

23

107

(14)

(84)

95,230

95,406

96,922

176

(1,516)

870,238

912,447

862,086

42,209

50,361

Finance Costs

(a)

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services

Table continued overpage
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Original
Budget 2015

Actual 2015

Actual 2014

Variance Budget vs Actual
2015

Variance Actual results 2015
vs 2014

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

5, H

83

130

98

47

32

6, I

99

501

665

402

(164)

Other revenue

29,372

30,932

29,991

1,560

941

Total Revenue

29,554

31,563

30,754

2,009

809

Total income other than income from State
Government

29,554

31,563

30,754

2,009

809

840,684

880,884

831,332

40,200

49,552

7, J

807,585

831,478

781,213

23,893

50,265

8

13,508

19,372

19,785

5,864

(413)

21,991

22,292

21,750

301

542

843,084

873,142

822,748

30,058

50,394

2,400

(7,742)

(8,585)

(10,142)

843

Changes in asset revaluation surplus

-

184,950

(13,620)

184,950

198,570

Total other comprehensive income

-

184,950

(13,620)

184,950

198,570

2,400

177,208

(22,205)

174,808

199,413

Variance Note

Income Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions

NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD

Table continued overpage
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Statement of Financial Position (Controlled Operations)

Variance
Note

Original
Budget
2015

Actual
2015

Actual 2014

Variance Budget vs
Actual 2015

Variance Actual results
2015 vs 2014 $000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

K

16,079

15,540

7,292

(539)

8,248

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

L

14,248

15,231

11,356

983

3,875

Receivables

9

8,709

5,713

5,735

(2,996)

(22)

10, M

618

1,258

238

640

1,020

N

9,217

9,216

11,826

(1)

(2,610)

48,871

46,958

36,447

(1,913)

10,511

N

107,188

107,689

83,985

501

23,704

11, O

1,665,129

1,602,806

1,411,438

(62,323)

191,368

P

6,335

6,819

7,703

484

(884)

Total Non-Current Assets

1,778,652

1,717,314

1,503,126

(61,338)

214,188

TOTAL ASSETS

1,827,523

1,764,272

1,539,573

(63,251)

224,699

Other current assets
Amounts receivable for services
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Variance Note

Original
Budget 2015

Actual 2015

Actual 2014

Variance Budget vs Actual
2015

Variance Actual results
2015 vs 2014

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Q

43,617

45,647

26,150

2,030

19,497

12, R

-

198

252

198

(54)

13

86,296

98,147

93,742

11,851

4,405

129,913

143,992

120,144

14,079

23,848

14, R

217,967

814

1,012

(217,153)

(198)

13

16,974

19,561

19,419

2,587

142

Total Non-Current Liabilities

234,941

20,375

20,431

(214,566)

(56)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

364,854

164,367

140,575

(200,487)

23,792

1,462,669

1,599,905

1,398,998

137,236

200,907

Statement of Financial Position (Controlled
Operations)
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity

15, S

1,085,208

1,062,881

1,039,182

(22,327)

23,699

Reserves

17, V

426,094

597,424

412,474

171,330

184,950

Accumulated deficit

16, T

(48,633)

(60,400)

(52,658)

(11,767)

(7,742)

1,462,669

1,599,905

1,398,998

137,236

200,907

TOTAL EQUITY
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Statement of Cash Flows (Controlled
Operations)

Variance Note

Original
Budget 2015

Actual 2015

Actual 2014

Variance Budget vs Actual
2015

Variance Actual results
2015 vs 2014

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM THE STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation

18, U

774,661

798,554

753,763

23,893

44,791

Capital appropriations

19, W

40,112

18,199

73,960

(21,913)

(55,761)

X

11,830

11,830

8,050

-

3,780

21,991

22,292

21,750

301

542

848,594

850,875

857,523

2,281

(6,648)

Holding account drawdowns
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits

20, Y

(451,767)

(466,184)

(439,820)

(14,417)

(26,364)

Supplies and services

21, Z

(365,278)

(358,224)

(365,994)

7,054

7,770

AA

(66)

(66)

(86)

-

20

22, AB

(10,111)

(12,163)

(11,058)

(2,052)

(1,105)

23

(25,741)

(38,158)

(40,739)

(12,417)

2,581

24, AC

(3,167)

(443)

(366)

2,724

(77)

Sale of goods and services

25

28,691

31,633

32,754

2,942

(1,121)

Commonwealth grants and contributions

26

879

62

64

(817)

(2)

27, AD

3,688

448

355

(3,240)

93

28

26,858

38,067

41,575

11,209

(3,508)

(796,014)

(805,028)

(783,315)

(9,014)

(21,713)

Finance costs
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Receipts

GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Net cash used in operating activities
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Original
Budget 2015

Actual 2015

Actual 2014

Variance Budget vs Actual
2015

Variance Actual results
2015 vs 2014

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

(261)

(300)

(373)

(39)

73

Net cash used in financing activities

(261)

(300)

(373)

(39)

73

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

3,377

12,123

(26,472)

8,746

38,595

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
period

26,950

18,648

45,120

(8,302)

-

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
OF THE PERIOD

30,327

30,771

18,648

444

38,595

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Variance Note

Financial Lease Payments

30, AG

Major Variance Narratives (Controlled Operations)
Variances between estimate and actual
1. Employee benefits exceed estimates by $10.3m (2.21%) as a result of higher
overtime payments due to the increased numbers in the daily average prisoner
population.						
2. Supplies and services exceed estimates by $28.4m (11.10%). The completion
of Acacia’s prison expansion resulted in 300 additional prisoners being housed
at Acacia since November 2014. Acacia prison is privately run by Serco under
contract and the increase in prisoner numbers has led to an increase these
costs.
3. Depreciation expenses exceed estimates by $2.9m (9.9%) due to annual
revaluation increments in land and building valuations. As a result depreciation
increased.
4. Loss on the disposal of fixed assets trail estimates by $14k (37.8%). Due to the
nature of asset disposals the budgeted figures were estimated higher due to
higher losses in prior years.						
5. User charges and fees exceed estimates by $47k (56.6%). These are internal
charges levied and increases as prisoners numbers increased during the year.
6. Commonwealth grants and contributions income is $402k (406.1%) above
estimate due to the department receiving more monies for rehabilitation and
training projects than anticipated.						

2014-2015

7.

Service appropriation exceed estimates by $23.9m (3%) as the department
received additional funding for redundancies and extra funding for Acacia’s
expansion.
8. Resources received free of charge exceed estimates by $5.9m (43.4%)
The budget number was lowered for the year in line with the department’s
expected decommissioning from the Department of the Attorney General.
Decommissioning has been postponed to the 2015/2016 financial year.
9. Receivables trail estimates by $2.9m (34.4%) as the budgeted number was
based on historical balances. Tighter credit controls managed to bring this
actual figure down over the past two years.				
10. Other current assets represent prepayments that exceed estimates by $640k
(103.5%) due to additional prepayments made towards office accommodation
for July 2015.
11. Property, plant and equipment trail estimates by $62.3m (3.6%). There have
been delays in the commissioning of the new Eastern Goldfields Region prison
which would have operated on a financial lease. This has been postponed to
December 2015.
12. Current borrowings exceed estimates by $198k (100%) as the total budget was
included within non-current liabilities. 					
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Major Variance Narratives (Controlled Operations) continued
13. Current provisions trail estimates by $11.9m (13.7%) and non-current
provisions by $2.6m (15.2%). These provisions are for employee benefits.
Employee benefits are valuated on an annual basis by PwC actuaries in order
to determine the exact liability. The PwC results were higher than anticipated.
14. Non-current borrowings trail estimates by $217.2m (99.6%). The borrowings
are for a finance lease for the new Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison. Due
to delays in the project, the new prison is set to open in December 2015. The
finance lease will start once this prison is commissioned.
15. Contributed equity trail estimates by $22.3m (2.06%) due to the winding down
of the Acacia project with reduced spending on the total project.
16. The accumulated deficit exceed estimates by $11.8m (24.2%) and is mainly
attributable to the salary component and private prison costs of the department.
17. Reserves exceed estimates by $171,3m (40.2%) after the department adjusted
its property valuations to reflect the new increased values as determined by the
Valuer-General (Landgate).
18. The receipt of service appropriations exceed estimates by $23.9m (3.1%) due
to increased costs resulting in higher appropriations after the midyear review.
19. The receipt of capital appropriations trail estimates by $21.9m (54.6%). Projects
costs were revised during the year and capital costs related to Acacia revised
downwards by $22m.
20. Employee benefit payments exceed estimates by $14.4m (3.2%) primarily due
to redundancy payments.
21. The payments for supplies and services trail estimates by $7m (1.9%) due to
timing of payments to supplier payment terms.
22. Payments for accommodation exceed estimates $2.1m (20.3%) due to rent and
lease agreements being paid one month in advance.
23. GST Payments on purchases exceed estimates by $12.4m (48.2%) due to
higher costs that result in higher amounts of GST payable. Budgeted numbers
should have reflected historical trends.
24. GST payments to the taxation authorities trail estimates by $2.7m (86%)due to
budgeted numbers being higher than current and historical amounts and should
have reflected historical trends.
25. Receipts for goods and services exceed estimates by $2.9m (10.3%) due to
higher recoups of monies for goods and services.

Financial Statements
26. Commonwealth grants trail estimates by $817k (93%) due to budgeted
numbers being higher than current and historical amounts and should have
reflected historical trends.
27. GST receipts on sales trail estimates by $3.2m (87.9%) due to budgeted
numbers being higher than current and historical amounts and should have
reflected historical trends.
28. GST receipts from the taxation authority exceed estimates by $11.2m (41.7%)
due to higher costs that result in higher amounts of GST claimable. Budgeted
numbers
should have reflected historical trends.
29. Purchase of non-current assets trail estimates by $15.5m (31.7%) due to the
Acacia project winding down and estimates revised lower during the second
half of the financial year.
30. Finance lease payments exceed estimates by $39k (14.9%) due to budgeted
numbers being higher than current and historical amounts and should have
reflected historical trends.
Variances Between Actual Results for 2015 and 2014
A. Employee benefits expense increased by $29.2m (6.53%) and is mainly due
to salary increases across the board for prison officers, a 4.25% increase and
public servants 2.75% in June 2014. Medical staff had a 4% increase in July
2014. Overtime payments increased year on year as a direct result of the
growth in prisoner numbers.
B. Supplies and services costs increased by $17.5m (6.5%) due to increased
contractor costs for the department’s privately run prison Acacia as a result of
its expansion and greater capacity. (Ref 2. above).
C. Depreciation expenses increased by $3.2m (10.7%) due to annual revaluation
increments in land and building valuations. As a result depreciation increased.
D. Finance costs decreased by $20k (23.4%) due to various finance leased
vehicles reaching the end of their lease term during the year.
E. Accommodation expenses increased by $1.1m (10.1%) due to contracted
annual lease increases and the renewal of various fixed term leases that
expired during 2014-2015.
F. Grants and subsidies increased by $872k (10.1%) as prisoner gratuities
increased due to the year on year growth in the daily average prisoner
population.
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Variances Between Actual Results for 2015 and 2014 continued
G. Losses on the disposal of fixed assets decreased by $84k (78.4%) with less
assets being scrapped or disposed off than the prior year.
H. User charges and fees increased by $32k (32.3%) due to the increase in prisoner
numbers that these charges relate to.
I. Commonwealth grants and contributions decreased by $164k (24.7%) as the
department no longer incarcerates qualifying prisoners from the Indian Ocean
Territories.
J. Service appropriations increased by $50.3m (6.4%). Key factors driving
appropriation increases are higher costs due to annual salary increases across
the board and increases to operational costs with the year on year growth in
prisoners numbers. Prisoner numbers increased by 372 during 2014/2015.
K. Cash and cash equivalents increased by $8.3m (113.1%) due to high value
contracted services payment amounts only becoming due July 2015.
L. Restricted cash and cash equivalents increased by $3.9m ($34.1%) as the
department provided additional monies for its 27th pay due in June 2016.
M. Other current assets increased by $1m (429.3%) due to the department
prepaying office accommodation and lease payments earlier than the prior year.
N. Amounts receivable for services decreased for current assets by $2.6m (22.1%)
and increased for non-current assets by $23.7m (28.2%). These increase/
decrease annually pending adjustments for the department’s asset replacement
program.
O. Property, plant and equipment increased by $191.4m (13.6%) due to the
department having its land and buildings revalued and the addition of various
other new assets.
P. Intangible asset values decreased by $884k (11.5%) as a direct result of its
annual amortisation write downs.
Q. Payables increased by $19.5m (74.6%) due to the department taking up a lot
of late accruals and no longer paying high value contracted services within the
month of the services being rendered.
R. Borrowings decreased for current liabilities by $54k (21.43%) and for non-current
liabilities by $198k (19.6%) due to seven financed leased vehicles reaching the
end of its leasing terms.
S. Contributed equity is $23.7m higher due to capital equity contributions, Royalties
for Regions capital contributions and the transfer of land and buildings of $5.5m

2014-2015

T.
U.
V.

W.

X.
Y.
Z.
AA.
AB.

AC.
AD.
AE.

AF.

from the Department of the Attorney General to the Department Corrective
Services.
The accumulated deficit increased by $7.7m (14.7%) primarily due to higher
salary and private prison costs of the department.
The receipt of service appropriations increased by $44.8m (5.9%) due to
increased costs, mainly salary and private prison running costs.
Reserves increased by $184,5m (44.8%) after the department adjusted its
property valuations to reflect the new increased values as determined by the
Valuer-General (Landgate).
Capital appropriations decreased by $55.8m (75.4%) due to the completion of
major capital work projects started in prior years with the Acacia prison expansion
being the largest completed capital project.
Holding account drawdowns increased by $3.8m (46.9%) for adjustments to the
department’s asset replacement program.
Employee benefits payments increased by $26.4m (5.9%) due to salary
increases across the board.
Supplies and services payments decreased by $7.8m (2.1%) due to the
adjustment of payment terms contracted services invoices.
Finance cost payments decreased by $20k (23.3%) due to some fleet vehicles
reaching the end of their leasing term without any renewals or replacements.
Accommodation payments increased by $1.1m (10.1%) due to contracted annual
lease increases and the renewal of various fixed term leases that expired during
2014/2015.
GST payments to taxation authority increased by $77k (21%) as a result of
increased prison industry sales attracting GST.
GST receipts on sales increased by $93k (26.2%) due to a slight increase in
recoups attracting GST.
Payments for non-current physical assets decreased by $66.9m (66.7%) due to
the completion of major capital projects and in line with lower capital budgets for
the 20145/2015 financial year.
Proceeds on the sale of non-current assets decreased by $39k (97.5%) primarily
due to the nature of sales or trade ins of existing assets.AG. Finance lease
payments decreased by $73k (19.6%) due to seven financed leased vehicles
reaching the end of its leasing terms.
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41. Trust Accounts
2015
Opening
Balance
$000

Receipts
$000

Payments
$000

Closing
Balance
$000

Opening
Balance
$000

Receipts
$000

Payments
$000

Closing
Balance
$000

536

7,640

7,625

551

387

7,109

6,960

536

19

7

6

20

15

11

7

19

1. Prisoners Private Cash Trust Account (1)
2. Juveniles' Private Cash Trust Account
(i)

2014

This does not include Acacia Prison which is managed under contract by Serco.

Purpose of the trust accounts
1. Prisoners’ Private Cash Trust Account
To hold monies for and on behalf of prisoners.

2. Juveniles’ Private Cash Trust Account
To hold monies in trust for children under the care of the Juvenile Justice Program.

42. Commonwealth Grant - Christmas and Cocos Island
2015
$000

2014
$000

(185,572)

(163,208)

258,669
258,669

64,110
64,110

Expenses
Operating costs
Total payments

60,487
60,487

86,474
86,474

Closing balance

12,610

(185,572)

Opening Balance
Income
Commonwealth reimbursements
Total receipts

Operating costs are based on both actuals plus identified
estimated services provided as agreed
in the standard delivery service agreement signed by the
Commonwealth and the State.
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Indicators

Disclosures and
Legal Compliance
2014-2015
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Key Performance Indicators

Department of Corrective Services Outcome
A safe, secure and decent corrective services which works collaboratively to contribute
to community safety and reduces offenders’ involvement in the justice system.
The Department’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are an integral part of tracking performance in areas
that have been identified as critical to our business.

2014-2015 AUDITED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Relationship to Government Goals
The table below demonstrates the link between the most appropriate high-level government goal and the more specific
agency level government desired outcomes. The Department of Corrective Services is funded to deliver services and
achieve the desired outcomes, which ultimately contribute to meeting the high-level government goals.

Government goal(s)
Results Based Service Delivery:
Greater focus on achieving results
in key service areas for the benefit
of all Western Australians.

2014-2015

Desired DCS outcomes

Services

A safe, secure and decent
corrective services which
contributes to community safety and
reduced offenders’ involvement in
the justice system.

1. Adult Corrective Services
2. Youth Justice Services
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Key Performance Indicators

ADULT OFFENDERS
The Department of Corrective Services exists to protect the community through the decent, fair, and effective
management of prisons and community corrections. The ability of the Department to do so, and to deliver best
practice in offender rehabilitation, is fundamental to the community’s sense of safety and security.

Service 1 - Adult Corrective Services
Service Description
Adults who offend are managed in custody and in the community to fulfil the orders of the courts and releasing
authorities.
Adults who offend participate in remedial, educational, employment and rehabilitative programs that address their
offending behaviour.
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Effectiveness Indicators
1.1 Number of Escapes - Adult (By Security Rating)
This indicator measures the number of escapes for prisoners from custody by the prisoner’s personal security rating –
maximum, medium and minimum. It is a measure of the protection provided to the community through safe and secure
custodial systems.
Figures include all escapes that have occurred in both private and publicly operated facilities and during transport.
Security rating
Minimum
Medium
Maximum
Total

Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
6
0
1
7

7
2
1
10

6
5
4
15

8
1
0
9

0
0
0
0

In 2014-2015 there was a decrease in escapes. This occurred at the same time that the daily average prisoner population
increased from 5030 to 5402.
Of the nine escapes in 2014-2015, four were from a minimum security prison and one was from a medium security prison. The
remainder were escapes from work camps (2), work parties (1) and prisoner escorts (1). Seven escapes occurred while the
prisoner was being managed directly by the Department and two while the prisoner was being managed by a private contractor.
Following an incident of escape, the Department immediately conducts a comprehensive investigation and review of the
circumstances of escape, including procedural, staffing, and infrastructure issues. Immediate remedial action is taken and
lessons learned are captured so that any identified longer-term issues can be addressed in due course.

2014-2015
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1.2 Rate of Return - Offender Programs - Adult
The rate of return for program completers is defined as the rate at which adult offenders return to corrective services within two
years of release from custody, where the individual has completed at least one offender treatment program prior to exit.
The rate includes return to either community corrections or custody. The rate excludes prison sentences for fine default only and
prisoners who return to custody due to the suspension of an early release order.
This measure does not include programs relating to education and vocational training or re-entry link services.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Rate of Return Offender Programs
(Adult)

43.16%

42.38%

40.20%

40.71%

45%

In 2014-2015 there was a slight increase in the rate of return of prisoners who completed an adult offender program, although
the rate remains well within target.
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1.3 Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders - Adult
This indicator measures the successful completion of community corrections orders, including:
• Community Based
• Conditional Suspended Imprisonment
• Conditional/Monitored Bail
• Dangerous Sexual Offender - Supervision
• Intensive Supervision
• Parole
• Pre-Sentence
•

Work and Development

Orders are considered to be successful when they run their full course without a breach action being raised. This indicator is
derived by calculating the number of orders successfully completed as a proportion of all orders validly terminated.
Terminated orders include those that have been successfully completed, orders that have been breached and those that have
expired. Orders can be breached either because the offender has committed another offence (re-offending) or because they
have failed to comply with the conditions of the order (omission). Orders terminated because of the death of an offender are not
included. Calculations do not include orders where the final outcome is still pending.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Successful completion
of community correction
orders - Adults

57.96%

61.25%

59.98%

61.31%

64%

There was an improvement in the successful completion rate for adult community corrections orders in 2014-2015. Completion
rates are moving closer to the Western Australian target but are still well below the national average of 72.8%.
Over the twelve month reporting period, breaches for re-offending increased from 7.06% to 7.22% of all orders terminated and
breaches for omission decreased from 32.14% to 30.63%.

2014-2015
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1.4 Average Out of Cell Hours - Adult
This performance indicator is measured according to national standards. Providing a secure, safe and decent custodial
environment includes managing prisoners in a way that minimises the risks they pose to the community while enabling them
to achieve an acceptable quality of life. Time spent out of cells provides a greater opportunity for prisoners to participate in
activities such as work, education, well-being, recreation and treatment programs, visits, and interacting with other prisoners and
staff.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Average Out of Cell
Hours

12.46

12.55

12.55

12.44

12.00

The average out of cell hours in Western Australian is above the national average of 10.1 hours per day.
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1.5 Serious Assault Rate per 100 Prisoners - Adult
This performance indicator is measured according to national standards. Providing a safe, secure and decent custodial
environment includes providing a prison environment where there is a low level of violence.
The rate per 100 prisoners is calculated based on the number of victims of assaults by prisoners against prisoners or staff,
where the assault is classified as serious. A serious assault occurs when a victim is subjected to physical violence that results
in physical injuries requiring medical treatment involving overnight hospitalisation in a medical facility (e.g. prison clinic, infirmary,
hospital or a public hospital) or ongoing medical treatment. Serious assaults include all sexual assaults.

Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Serious Assault Rate per
100 Prisoners

0.40

0.55

0.48

0.68

<0.48

Serious assault rates are highly variable due to the small numbers involved. The number of serious assaults increased from 24
in 2013-2014 to 37 in 2014-2015. This translated into a 41.7% increase in the serious assault rate.
The serious assaults were comprised of five assaults against staff, a reduction from nine the previous year, and 32 assaults
against prisoners, an increase from 15 the previous year. At 0.59 per 100 prisoners, Western Australia’s rate of serious assaults
against prisoners remains well below the national average of 0.79 despite the recent increase.
The total number of assaults and serious assaults against prisoners and staff, decreased from 497 to 437 (12.1%) over the
reporting period.

2014-2015
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Efficiency Indicators
1.6 Cost Per Day of Keeping an Offender in Custody - Adult
This indicator measures the full accrual cost of managing an adult offender in custody per day. It is calculated by dividing the
total accrual cost of managing an adult offender in custody by the average daily number of adult offenders, divided by 365 days.

Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Cost per day of keeping
an offender in custody

$291

$317

$334

$332

$345

The cost per day of keeping an offender in custody decreased by 0.60% between 2013-2014 and 2014-2015. This reflects the
economies of scale associated with managing a larger prisoner population.
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1.7 Cost Per Day of Managing an Offender Through Community Supervision - Adult
This indicator measures the unit cost of managing an adult offender per day through community supervision. It is calculated
by dividing the total accrual cost of managing an adult offender through community supervision by the average daily number of
offenders supervised, divided by 365 days.

Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Cost per day of managing
an offender through
community supervision

$46

$49

$46

$50

$43

The cost per day of managing an offender through community supervision increased by 8.70% between 2013-2014 and 20142015. This reflects the 4.59% decrease in the daily average number of adult offenders on community orders.

2014-2015

back

next

contents 131

Key Performance Indicators
YOUNG OFFENDERS
Service 2 - Youth Justice Services
Service Description
Young people who offend are managed in detention and in the community to fulfil the orders of the courts and through diversion
from court programs. Young people who offend participate in remedial, educational and rehabilitative programs that address their
offending behaviour.

Effectiveness Indicators
2.1 Number of Escapes - Youth
This indicator measures the number of escapes from all youth detention centres and during transport. It is a measure of the
protection provided to the community through the provision of safe and secure custodial systems. Escape figures include all
escapes that have occurred in both private and publicly operated facilities and during transport.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Number of Escapes

0

2

0

0

0

There were no escapes from detention by young offenders in 2014-2015.
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2.2 Rate of Return to Detention - Youth
The rate of return to detention is defined as the proportion of young people who return to sentenced detention within two years of
release from sentenced detention. This indicator is measured over two previous financial years.
This measure counts distinct persons exiting and returning. A detainee is counted only once even if they leave and re-enter
detention multiple times. The measure includes young people who re-enter detention because of a new sentence and those who
return to detention because their supervised release order is cancelled.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Rate of return to detention

55.96%

48.98%

49.03%

57.56%

50%

The rate of return to detention increased by 8.53 percentage points between 2013-2014 and 2014-2015 and is now over the
target rate of 50%.
The actual number of young people who returned to detention within two years of release increased by 22.8% from 127 to 156.
Over the same time period, the number of young people released from detention increased by 4.6%, from 259 to 271.
The Department is currently undertaking a number of strategic and operational reforms that are aimed at strengthening the
management and rehabilitation of young people. One key initiative is the development of a Youth Justice Framework that will
provide the overarching vision and philosophy for the Youth Justice Services Division from 2015 to 2018.
This framework will include:
• A standardised instrument for assessing a young person’s needs and risks, and their likelihood of re-offending, that will be
introduced in December 2015. It is anticipated the instrument will improve the quality of the decision making process within
YJS systems by using a uniform structure than can be applied to all young people.
• A Program Delivery Strategy that will guide the development of new programs for young people and a through care model
informed by integrated individualised case management. The Strategy will define the way that services and programs are
selected, prioritised and delivered and enable the more effective management of individual programs so that young people’s
particular needs can be addressed.
Also underway, is the Banksia Hill Detention Centre Transformation which includes a review of existing services and programs
and the development of a new operational model that focuses on the delivery of services that are tailored to the unique needs of
young people.

2014-2015
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2.3 Successful Completion of Community-Based Corrections Orders - Youth
This indicator measures the rate at which orders are successfully completed by young people in the community.
Types of community corrections orders include:
•

Conditional release

•

Supervised bail

•

Community work

•

Supervised release orders

•

Intensive youth supervision

•

Regional bail

•

Intensive youth supervision (with detention)

•

Youth community-based

This indicator is derived by calculating the number of orders successfully completed as a proportion of all orders validly
terminated. Validly terminated orders are the total number of orders that are successfully completed, breached, or expired.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Successful completion of
community corrections
orders

67.13%

63.37%

66.96%

57.65%

68%

The rate of successful completion of youth community corrections orders dropped by 9.31 percentage points between 2013-2014
and 2014-2015. Despite the rate decrease the number of successfully completed orders increased from 1386 to 1439 over the
reporting period.
The decreased rate of order completions was due to the increased number of young people who were breached for failing to
comply with the conditions of their orders. The number of breaches for re-offending reduced from 21.98% to 18.95% between
2013-2014 and 2014-2015.
The completion rate for youth community based orders in Western Australia is lower than the national average of 79.6%.
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Efficiency Indicators
2.4 Cost Per Day of Keeping a Young Person in Detention
This indicator measures the unit cost per day of managing a young person in detention.
It is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing a young person in detention by the average daily population,
divided by 365 days.

Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Cost per day of keeping a
young person in detention

$624

$645

$814

$868

$589

The cost per day of keeping a young person in detention has increased by 6.63%, from $814 in 2013-2014 to $868 in 20142015. This is partially explained by the reduced economies of scale that accompany a decrease in the number of young people
in detention. It is also a reflection of the Department’s significant increase in expenditure on improving the management and
rehabilitation of young people in detention.

2014-2015
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2.5 Cost Per Day of Managing a Young Person Through Community Supervision
This indicator is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing a young person through community supervision by the
average daily number of offenders supervised, divided by 365 days.
Actual 2011-2012 Actual 2012-2013 Actual 2013-2014 Actual 2014-2015 Target 2014-2015
Cost per day of managing
a young person through
community supervision

$77

$81

$90

$102

$91

The cost per day of managing a young offender in the community has increased by 13.33% from $90 in 2013-2014 to $102 in
2014-2015. As with the cost per day of keeping a young person in detention, this reflects both a decrease in overall numbers
(13.27%) and a deliberate increase in resource allocation.
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Disclosures and legal compliance: Other
Ministerial directives
There were no Ministerial directives issued to the Department throughout the 2014-2015 financial year.
Board and committee remuneration
Agencies are required to report on the individual and aggregate costs of remunerating all positions on all boards and
committees as defined in the Premiers Circular 2010/02 - State Government Boards and Committees.
Table 14: Supervised Release Review Board (SRRB)*
* Although the SRRB is a
board listed under the
portfolio of the The Hon.
Joe Frances MLA, all
One-fifth of the salary of
staff and members are
a Senior puisne judge**
paid by the Department
of the Attorney-General
$490
(DotAG). DotAG will
have full financial details
of payments made to
$490
members.

Position

Name

Type of
remuneration

Period of
membership

Gross/actual
remuneration

Chairman

The Honourable
Michael Murray AM QC

Annual

Contract expires 1
January 2017

Community member

Ms Gretchen Lee***

Per sitting

Contract expires 31
December 2016

Aboriginal
community member

Ashley Garlett

Per sitting

Contract expires 31
December 2017

Victim’s
representative

Georgia Cera

Per sitting

Contract expires 31
December 2017

$490 **Of the Supreme Court
of Western Australia

Alternate community
member

vacant

Per sitting

-

Alternate Aboriginal
representative

Jonathan Ford

Per sitting

Contract expires 31
December 2017

- ***Ms Gretchen Lee
retired on 11 March
2015
$490

Alternate Victims’
representative

Veronika Rowe

Per sitting

Contract expires 31
December 2017

$490
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Table 15: Dangerous Sexual Offenders Review Committee (DSORC)
Position

Name

Type of
remuneration

Period of
membership

Gross/actual
remuneration

Psychiatrist

*

Per sitting

June 2006

Nil

Clinical Psychologist

*

Per sitting

February 2010

$1,716 total for
2014-2015

*names withheld due to nature of this committee
Table 16: Prisoner Grievance Review Panel (PGRP)
Position

Name

Type of
remuneration

Period of
membership

Gross/actual
remuneration

Independent
community member

*

Per meeting **

10 years

Nil

* name withheld due to security reasons
** there were no sittings of the PGRP in the 2014-2015 financial year

2014-2015
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Table 17: Other legal requirements
The Department’s 2014-2015 advertising expenditure is detailed in the table below:
Advertising expenditure
Adcorp Australia Ltd
All Signs
Carat Australia Media Services
Department of Finance
Human Connection
State Law Publisher
Telstra
WA Prison Officers Union
West Print Management
Western Australian Local Government Association
WPM Group PTY LTD
Whygo Conferencing
WA News
Total

2013-2014 ($)

2014-2015 ($)

83,094

81,581
1,370

4,004
1,818
988
2,353
84,784
2,159

2,156
83,858
1,705
1,255

2,329
4,574
227
451

2,307

184,963

176,637

587
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Contracts/non-government agreements
Non-government agreements
In 2014-2015, the Department provided funding of $30.7
Million for 111 service agreements with 51 not-for-profit
agencies across the state. The agreements provide
diverse range of services to assist offenders exiting
custodial facilities and re-integrating into the community.
The not-for-profit sector delivers services to an
estimated 12,000 offenders each year. Approximately
45% of these services are delivered in prison with 55%
delivered in the community.
Re-entry services
Re-entry services provide support to prisoners and
their families before and after release, including life
skills programs and connecting offenders to a range of
community support services.
The Department funded 10 agencies to provide the Reentry Link Program across the State for a total value of
$9.4 million.
Supported accommodation programs

if their accommodation needs are not met on release
from prison. These programs represent a total annual
value of $2.5 million.
Service providers link with prisoners prior to release
and provide support after release. These providers
primarily access housing for prisoners exiting custody
through an arrangement with the Department of
Housing and Foundation Housing.
Accommodation services operate in the Perth
metropolitan area and in the regional areas of Albany,
Bunbury, Geraldton and Kalgoorlie
Parenting advice and support services
Parenting Advice and Support Services (PASS) support
prisoners who are parents or expectant parents at
Bandyup Women’s Prison, Boronia Pre-release Centre,
Hakea Prison, West Kimberley Regional Prison and
Wooroloo Prison Farm.
The service provides women and men with information
and advice on parenting skills and child development, as
well as strategies for change.

Supported Accommodation Programs provide
assistance for offenders who are at risk of re-offending

2014-2015
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Contracts/non-government agreements continued
Youth Diversion Services

Clinical interventions

In 2014-2015, $7,058,986 was allocated to Youth Diversion
Services. $6,678,878 of these funds was specifically
provided for community based programs and $371,108 for
custody based programs.

Clinical Intervention Programs provided by the Not For
Profit sector include the Drug and Alcohol Throughcare Service Pathways, Domestic Violence Programs,
Medium Intensity Violence and Sexual Assault
Counselling.

Youth Bail Options Program
The Youth Bail Options Program provides assistance for
young people with bail who are not immediately able to
contact a responsible adult, or be in an environment that
is conducive to their wellbeing.
$3.8 million across the state is allocated to the Youth
Bail Options Program. Facilities are located in the Perth
metropolitan area and in Kalgoorlie, Kununurra, Broome,
Geraldton and South Hedland.
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Table 18: Department Corrective Services awarded contracts for 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 Non-government service agreements branch
Awarded value
ABL (exc GST) ($)

Contract no.

Contract description

Supplier

057-2014

Blood Borne Virus Education Programs

Hepatitis WA Inc

052-2014

Rehabilitative Programs to Young
Holyoake
People at Banksia Hill Detention Centre

054-2014

Rehabilitative Programs to Young
Sexual and Reproductive Health
People at Banksia Hill Detention Centre WA

52,800.00

055-2014

Rehabilitative Programs to Young
Australian Red Cross
People at Banksia Hill Detention Centre

38,400.00

053-2014

Rehabilitative Programs to Young
Hope Community Services Inc
People at Banksia Hill Detention Centre

84,792.00

Total

975,992.00

700,000.00
100,000.00

Amounts are over the period of the agreement including any extension options. Amounts include GST.

2014-2015

back

next

contents 143

Disclosures and Legal Compliance: Other

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes
In 2014 - 2015, the Department continued its commitment to ensuring
the provision of professional and appropriate services for stakeholders
with a physical, intellectual, sensory or cognitive disability, their carers
and families.
The range of measures to support access for people with a disability
are reported against the key standards outlined in the Disability
Services Act 1993.
The Department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2015 - 2019
was endorsed by the Disability Services Commission in early 2015 as
meeting the requirements of the Disability Service Act 1993. A progress
report has been submitted to the Disability Services Commission
outlining the Department’s progress against actions as stated in the
2015 - 2019 Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.
Standard 1 - People with a disability have the same opportunities
as others to access the services of, and any events organised by,
the Department.
The Department’s Coordinator Intellectual Disability Services provides
support and advice to prisoners, their families, carers and staff on the
needs of prisoners with an intellectual disability, cognitive disability,
intellectual impairment of Acquired Brain Injury and the services
available to them.
Intellectual Disability Services conducts assessments on an
ongoing basis to identify prisoners with any of the above mentioned

impairment/s.
The Coordinator Intellectual Disability Services maintains regular
communication with the Disability Service Commission and the Office of
the Public Advocate as well as internal stakeholders to address issues
relevant to offenders with an intellectual disability, cognitive disability,
intellectual impairment or Acquired Brain Injury.
Standard 2 - People with a disability have the same opportunities
as other people to access the buildings and facilities of the
Department.
As part of the standard practice for building, including fitouts, the
Department complies with the Australian Building Code and specifically
the requirements of the Disability (Access to Premises - Buildings)
Standards 2010. This ensures equitable access to and use of, premises
for people with a disability.
Standard 3 - People with a disability receive information from
the Department in a format that will enable them to access the
information as readily as other people are able to access it.
The Department produces brochures for offenders, carers and court
employees to explain some of the process within the corrections
system. Specialist staff provide advice and advocacy for victims,
offenders and carers with literacy difficulties in custody and the
community. The Department produces print and online documents in
line with disability access guidelines.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes continued
Standard 5 - People with a disability have the same
The Department’s public website is Level AA complaint
opportunities
other people to make complaints to
with the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines, a State THE NEW
PRISON WILLas
INCREASE
ITSDepartment.
CAPACITY FROM:
the
government requirement.
Standard 4 - People with a disability receive the
same level and quality of service from the staff of
the Department as other people receive.

116
350

The Department provides a central registry for offenders,
staff (formal grievance only) and members of the public
TO
who wish
to raise issues relating to the Department.

The registry known as ACCESS has a 24 hour, sevenday-a-week confidential telephone system where
MINIMUM
complainants
with a disability can leave a recorded
message or speak directly with a complaints officer
during business hours. The service is available from
THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:
anywhere in the state for the cost of a local call. Contact
can also be made through mail or email. An onsite
The first Intellectual Disability Awareness Training for
interpreter or a telephone interpreter from the Translating
Correctional Officer Foundation Program is scheduled
and Interpreting Services or the Deaf Society is available
for 9 July 2015. Training on working with people with
free of charge.
disability
the criminal
justice
system is also delivered
OF WORK in
PERFORMED
BY ADULT
OFFENDERS
COMMUNITY
PROJECTS
Face-to-face interviews can be made by appointment
as part ofON
the
Entry Level
Training Program for prison
for people with a disability with the Manager Complaints
officers and plans are underway to deliver the training
as part of the Youth Custodial Officers and Youth Justice Administration.
Officers foundation programs.
to
Making support programs available for staff providing
services to people with a disability is an action as part
of the 2015-2019 DAIP. The Coordinator Intellectual
Disability Services has visited the major metropolitan
prisons to deliver these sessions and ongoing training is
planned.

x300

2014-2015

x50

back

More than

4,917

ACCESS lodgements were
received during the year,
with ACCESS providing
offenders, external
agencies, and the
community with advice
on a further

1,213
occasions.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes
continued

Compliance with public sector standards and ethical
codes

Standard 6 - People with disability have the same
opportunities as other people to participate in any
public consultation by the Department.

The Department has policies, procedures and guidelines
in place to ensure obligations are met with respect
to the Public Sector Standards (Human Resource
Management), the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics, and
the Department’s Code of Conduct.

Information regarding external consultations are
accessible to people with a disability.
Standard 7 - People with disability have the same
opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain
employment with the Department.
The Department works to ensure that all groups,
including people with a disability have access to
employment opportunities with the Department and
the Department’s Workforce Plan includes equity and
diversity initiatives.

These policies and supporting guidelines are available
to all staff via the Department’s intranet. To support
knowledge of these Standards and Codes, training on
accountable and ethical decision-making in the Western
Australian Public Sector continued to be delivered
to new staff via the Academy Learning Management
System.

A Cultural Leave Policy was introduced in 2014
which identifies the entitlement to leave for legitimate
ceremonial and cultural purposes. It allows employees
leeway to practice their traditional customs, laws and
participate in ceremonial activities.
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Recordkeeping
Every government organisation is required to have
a Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) under s19 of the State
Records Act 2000. The Department manages its records
under an approved RKP and has developed policies,
processes, systems and tools to assist its staff to meet
their recordkeeping responsibilities and the requirements
of the RKP.
The Department’s Statement of Compliance with the
State Records Commission Standards, Standard 2
Principle 6 for 2014-2015:

to central storage or approved for destruction under
the General Disposal Authority for State Government
Information (RD 2013017).
The nature and extent of the recordkeeping training
program conducted by or for the organisation
the Department provided a range of recordkeeping
training sessions and support materials to cater for
THE NEW PRISON WILL INCREASE
different learning styles.
ITS CAPACITY FROM:
the Department’s monthly recordkeeping newsletter
Searchlight was distributed to 1,433 staff each month
in 2014-2015.
TO
15 user guides and 84 fact sheets relating to
recordkeeping were produced and published online
and in print.

116
350

Whether the efficiency and effectiveness of the
organisation’s recordkeeping systems has been
MINIMUM
Whether the efficiency and effectiveness of the
evaluated or alternatively when such an evaluation is
recordkeeping training program has been reviewed or
proposed
THE NEW PRISON WILL HOLD:
alternatively when this is planned to be done
the Department’s Recordkeeping Plan has been
514 staff were trained in the use of TRIM to manage
approved by the State Records Commission to 2018.
their records and 97.27% of staff found this course
the Department’s Retention and Disposal Schedule
useful.
(DA 2013-020) is undergoing review in consultation
the OFFENDERS
Department has an online records awareness
with the State Records Office. Submission
the
OF WORKto
PERFORMED
BY ADULT
ON
COMMUNITY
PROJECTS
training course which is customised to reflect
State Records Commission is planned to occur
corporate and operational recordkeeping
before the end of 2015
requirements as well as contractor obligations. Since
since 2011 there have been 1,023 individual and
its launch in June 2014, 1866 staff had started
group training sessions to improve recordkeeping
to the
course with 1706 completing and passing (91.43%).
and the use of the electronic document and records
Recordkeeping training has now been deemed
management system (HP TRIM).
mandatory for all Department staff.
in 2014-2015 1,307 boxes of inactive records held
in prisons and community centres were transferred

x300

2014-2015

The 2014-2015 year
to date has seen

6,345

archive boxes added
to the collection.

x50
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Recordkeeping continued

Substantive equality

Assurance that the organisation’s induction program
addresses employee roles and responsibilities in regard
to their compliance with the organisation’s recordkeeping
plan
statements regarding recordkeeping and the proper
use of information were also included in the Use of
Public Resources section of the Department’s Code
of Conduct 2015.
the booklet ‘An Introduction to Recordkeeping’
provided to staff at induction contains a reference
section highlighting 116 specific policies and
procedures, which include direct references to
operational recordkeeping requirements.

The Department continued to demonstrate its
commitment to the State Government’s policy framework
for substantive equality in 2014-2015. This policy
framework is part of the Public Sector Anti-Racism
and equality Program and aims to ensure equitable
outcomes for all clients of public sector agencies by:
eliminating systemic racial discrimination in the
provision of services
promoting sensitivity to the different needs of client
groups
In accordance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s
requirements, the Department has established a
substantive equality impact assessment framework
to support the review and development of operational
Standards and Procedures. This framework draws
on substantive equality expertise across the sector to
ensure that both custodial and community services
meet the needs of a diverse group of clients. The
Department is particularly cognisant of the unique needs
of Aboriginal people and people from culturally and
linguistically diverse backgrounds, females, and people
with impairment, and is committed to ensuring that these
people are able to access the same corrective services
outcomes as all clients.
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Occupational Safety and Health
The Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2012-05 Code of Practice:
Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector
has minimum annual reporting requirements for agencies.
Commitment to occupational safety and health (OSH), and injury
management.
The Department of Corrective Services is committed to the safety of
our people. The OSH Policy is a statement of our commitment and
outlines our expected behaviours to ensure a safe and healthy work
environment. In developing the OSH Policy, a Safety Behaviours
Survey was conducted where our employees were asked to rate the
importance of the presence of absence of 25 safety behaviours to
them. The results of the survey influenced the statements that were
included in the OSH Policy.
The Corporate OSH Committee was reinstated in 2014. The Corporate
OSH Committee comprises of Divisional Heads and provides a forum
for executive level consideration of OSH matters. One of the first
actions of the reformed Corporate OSH Committee was to endorse
the Annual OSH Plan which identified strategic objectives and specific
targets to improve and measure OSH performance.
In July 2014 an online OSH Awareness training package was launched
on the Academy Learning Environment and Management System. This
course is mandatory for staff to complete every three years. 80% of
Corporate Executive have completed the training.

Formal mechanism for consultation with employees on
occupational safety and health matters
The formal mechanisms for consultation on OSH matters are outlined
in the Department’s ‘OSH Communication, Consultation and Issue
Resolution Procedure’. Each workplace has an OSH Committee which
meets at least quarterly or a monthly OSH Forum where OSH issues
can be raised and discussed. For the quarter ending the 31 March,
96% of workplaces achieved compliance with these requirements.
Safety and Health Representatives (SHRs) are an important OSH
consultative mechanism. The Department currently has 211 SHRs
in workplaces across the state. SHRs and key managerial contacts
receive OSH broadcasts informing them of new and updated OSH
policies, procedures and tools. Both SHRs and managerial contacts
are provided with the opportunity to provide feedback on policies and
procedures prior to them being published.
All employees have access to OSH policies, procedures, tools
and resources through the OSH intranet page. The intranet page
was redesigned in 2015 to improve the usability and availability of
information. An electronic safety publication also provides and updates
and information to employees. The newsletter was published monthly,
but since March 2015 has become a bimonthly publication.
Compliance with injury management requirements of the Workers’
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
The prevention and management of workplace injuries has been a key
area of focus during the year. With the management of over 10,000
offenders in our care the corrective services function within Western

2014-2015
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Occupational Safety and Health continued
Australia has a unique risk profile for its frontline staff.
The Department currently has 437 open workers’
compensation claims under management and receives
an average of 48 new claims each month. 573 claims
were received over the past year.
To address this concern the Department commissioned
a review into its workers’ compensation climate
during the year and has now established a dedicated
project to progress a wide range reforms. The reforms
are focussed on reducing staff injuries through
improvements to both organisational culture and
capability and has set ambitious improvement targets to
injury prevention and management over the next twelve
months.
Assessment of the occupational safety and health
management system
A WorkSafe Plan assessment was completed on the
Department’s OSH Management System by a WorkSafe
accredited auditor in May 2013. In 2014, four regional
workplaces were audited on a workplace level by a
WorkSafe accredited auditor in March and April.
An internal assessment of the Department’s OSH
Management System against the WorkSafe Plan was
undertaken between July and August 2014. The findings
of the audit contributed to the development of the OSH
Annual Plan.
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Table 19: OSH requirements table 2014-2015
Requirement under Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2012-05 Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the WA Public Sector
Actual results

Measure
Number of fatalities
Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate

Results against target

2012-2013

2014-2015

Target

Comment on results

0

0

Zero fatalities

Achieved

7.8

7.8

28.14

29.76

-

-

10% reduction on previous 3 years

Not achieved

Target: LTI incidence rate of 6.25
10% reduction on previous 3 years

Not achieved

Target: LTI incidence rate of 6.25

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks

Greater than or equal to 80%
(ii) within 26 weeks

-

Percentage of managers trained in
occupational safety, health and injury
management responsibilities

-

At this time data is currently
being sought from RiskCover
Not achieved

63%

52%

Greater than or equal to 80%

Training program has been
significantly reduced in 20142015.

Note: Further information on complying with this reporting requirement, including the calculation and reporting of the performance measures, can
be found at www.publicsectorsafety.wa.gov.au under ‘Annual reporting’.
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Information and Communications Technology
The Department’s Information and Communications Technology
Strategy is being revised to align with the Department’s Strategic
Plan and will reflect the de-commissioning of the shared arrangement
for Information and Communications Technology service with the
Department of Attorney General due to be finalised in June 2016.
The Strategy will focus on optimising the Department’s use of
technology and integrated systems in a coordinated manner to
facilitate the delivery of the Department’s four key priorities - security
of detainees, prisoners and offenders; safety of our people; safety of
detainees, prisoners and offenders; and rehabilitation.
Key outcomes sought from the Strategy will include:
solutions that align with, and are compatible with, the envisaged
future of the Information and Communications Technology
environment
solutions that are capable of accommodating growing volumes of
work without negative impacts on the performance of systems or
equipment
solutions that are designed and implemented from a coordinated
whole-of-department perspective so they are not isolated in terms
of support, maintenance and flexibility.
Department of Corrective Services website
The Department’s website has continued to deliver high quality useful,
usable and accessible online information to all users, including people
with a disability who may use assistive technologies.
During 2014-2015, the Department’s website has met the Web Content

Accessibility Guidelines 2.0 Level AA compliance. In addition to this,
the website is now more responsive to desktop and mobile devices.
The website is regularly assessed against usability and readability
guidelines as well as World Wide Web Consortium best practice.
Freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 allows access to information held
by the Department. Under the Act applications for information must be
dealt with within 45 days of receipt.
The Freedom of Information Branch manages all requests made to
the Department for information under the Act and issues decisions on
access to documents under authority delegated by the Commissioner.
In some cases, Section 23 of the Act may apply and applicants may be
refused access on a range of grounds. In these cases applicants have
the right of review - first internally to the Department and then externally
to the Government’s independent Information Commissioner.
Arrangements to inspect Department information available to the public
can be made by telephoning the Freedom of Information Manager on
9264 1133. Public access is from 8am-4pm, Monday to Friday at Level
9 141 St Georges Terrace, Perth.
In 2014-2015, the Department received 979 new Freedom of
Information applications and finalised 967 applications. Twelve internal
reviews were completed; of these ten original decisions were upheld,
one withdrawn and one varied. Four new applications for external
reviews were lodged with the Information Commissioner. Six external
reviews were discontinued either at the request of the complainant
or by the Information Commissioner. Two external reviews remain
outstanding. (See Table 20).
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Table 20: Freedom of Information applications made to the Department
2010-2011

2011-2012

2012-2013

2013-2014

2014-2015

929

1046

963

968

954

Non-personal information requests

24

24

27

37

25

Amendment of personal information

0

0

4

1

0

1007

1070

994

1006

979

Applications completed

976

1091

1013

1026

967

Applications withdrawn

116

154

178

161

194

Applications transferred in full to
other agencies

55

55

38

45

38

Applications outstanding

91

68

49

26

36

Internal reviews completed

8

9

10

13

12

External reviews completed

0

8

2

10

6

Personal information requests

Total applications received

2014-2015
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All Freedom of
Information (FOI)
applications made to
the Department are
coordinated by the FOI
Manager, who can also
help with requests for
documents available
for purchase or free of
charge. Arrangements
to inspect Department
information available to
the public can be made
by telephoning the
FOI Manager on 9264
1133. Public access is
from
8.00 am to 4.00 pm,
Monday to Friday
at Level 9, 141 St
Georges Terrace,
Perth.
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